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Thursday, October 8, 2009

--- Upon commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.

Good morning, everyone.  Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited filed an application with the Ontario Energy Board seeking approval of rate riders to recover costs incurred for the emergency remediation of contact voltage conditions in the system, mainly incurred from February to March of 2009.

In Procedural Order No. 2, the Board stated that it has determined that it will proceed by way of an oral hearing, which is this hearing, to allow for further clarification of the responses by Toronto Hydro to the interrogatories.

In that procedural order the Board also stated that - and I am quoting here:
"While it is not the intent of the Board to limit the scope of the matters raised during this hearing, the Board will be focussing on three evidentiary areas of direct relevance to the proposed cost of recovery.  These are, first, the characterization of the proposed costs as warranting a Z factor recovery; two, the incrementality of the costs rolled into those which would otherwise have been incurred in the absence of the Level III Emergency; and, three, the proposed allocation of the relief being sought to the various customer classes."

For the record, my name is Paul Vlahos.  I will be presiding over this hearing.  Could I have appearances, please?
Appearances:

MR. VELLONE:  John Vellone, counsel for the applicant.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Vellone, I'm sorry I cannot hear you.  Have you been trained how to use the buttons?

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.  John Vellone, counsel for the applicant.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, counsel for School Energy Coalition.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for VECC.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. FAYE:  Peter Faye, counsel for Energy Probe.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.

MR. MACINTOSH:  David MacIntosh.  I am here for Energy Probe, and, Mr. Chair, I know you like to know who is in the room, so I am going to introduce somebody that has come with us.  Sitting behind me is Yingjie Yu, a journalist from Beijing who is also a graduate lawyer.  He is here with us for a couple of months and he will be observing only.  He attended the cost of capital consultation earlier this week.

MR. VLAHOS:  The Board welcomes Mr. Yu.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I'm joined by Martin Davies, and behind me, Ted Antonopoulos.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

MR. VLAHOS:  Anybody else?  There being no response, Mr. Vellone -- well, Mr. Millar, any preliminary matters before I turn the --

MR. MILLAR:  I don't believe so, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Vellone.

MR. VELLONE:  I will ask that the witnesses be sworn in.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Millar, could you do the honours, please?
TORONTO HYDRO-ELECTRIC SYSTEM LIMITED - PANEL 1


Jean-Sebastien (JS) Couillard, Sworn


Ben LaPianta, Sworn


Colin J. McLorg, Sworn


Darryl James Seal, Sworn

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.
Examination by Mr. Vellone:


MR. VELLONE:  Can I ask each of the witness panel to please state and spell your name for the record?

MR. COUILLARD:  J.S. Couillard, J.S., C-O-U-I-L-L-A-R-D.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Ben LaPianta, B-E-N, capital L-A, capital P-I-A-N-T-A.



MR. McLORG:  Colin McLorg, that is C-O-L-I-N M-C-L-O-R-G for George.

MR. SEAL:  Darryl Seal, D-A-R-R-Y-L S-E-A-L.

MR. VELLONE:  I will just take a moment to introduce each of the panellists and talk a little bit about what aspects of the application each of them will be speaking in their testimony today.

Mr. Couillard, you are the chief financial officer of Toronto Hydro Corporation, the parent company of Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited, and you also ask as the CFO for THESL pursuant to a services agreement.  You will be responsible for the financial aspects of the application; is that correct?

MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. LaPianta, you are the vice president, distribution grid management, of Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited, and you will be responsible for the operational aspects of the application; is that correct?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. McLorg, you're the manager of regulatory affairs of Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited, and you will be responsible for the regulatory aspects of the application; is that correct?

MR. McLORG:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  And, Mr. Seal, you are the manager of rates and treasury operations of Toronto Hydro-Electric System Limited, and you will be responsible for the cost allocation and rate design aspects ever the application; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  Is anyone having a difficulty hearing me today?

MR. VLAHOS:  So far we are doing fine, Mr. Vellone.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.

Panel members, were the application and supporting materials prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Is the evidence before the Board, to the best of your knowledge, an accurate reflection of the company's affairs in respect of the 2009 contact voltage issue?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.

MR. McLORG:  Yes, it is.

MR. SEAL:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  Do you have any corrections to make to the evidence?

MR. SEAL:  I do have a number of corrections that I would like to make.

Three pages of the interrogatory responses have been corrected for a typo.  Board Staff Interrogatory Response No. 9, appendix A, page 1 has been corrected.  VECC Interrogatory Response 7(a) and 7(b), the first page of appendix A and appendix B have been corrected.

One correction in the evidence-in-chief, prefiled evidence, on page 10, line 25 should read:  $1.576 million for USL.

MR. VELLONE:  Just so we are clear on exactly what the corrections are, can I refer you to Exhibit J, tab 3, appendix -- schedule 7, appendix A of the corrected evidence?

Can you just identify what the correction was?

MR. SEAL:  Certainly.  In the lower half of the table where the rate riders were calculated, in the original interrogatory response the sum of the rate riders for each year was inadvertently rounded to full dollars.  So the correction shows the full two-decimal-place precision.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  And in respect of Exhibit J, tab 3, schedule 7, appendix B, can you identify what the correction was?

MR. SEAL:  Again, the same correction, where we inadvertently rounded the sum of the rate riders to zero decimals, so it has been corrected to two decimals.

MR. VELLONE:  Finally, Exhibit J, tab 1, schedule 9, appendix A, is that the same correction?

MR. SEAL:  Again, the same correction.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, would you like these corrections to be given exhibit numbers?

MR. VLAHOS:  I'm in your hands, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe just for ease of identification, we could do that.  I might also ask, Mr. Vellone, I missed the correction on page 10 of the prefiled evidence.  Could you or one of the witnesses please repeat what the correction was?

MR. VELLONE:  Certainly.

MR. SEAL:  Certainly.  So page 10, line 25 currently reads 1.576 for USL.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. SEAL:  It should be $1.576 million for USL.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  To give exhibit numbers, Exhibit J, tab 3, schedule 7, Exhibit A, page 1 of 3, we will call that Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:   EXHIBIT J, TAB 3, SCHEDULE 7, EXHIBIT A, PAGE 1 OF 3

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit J, tab 1, schedule 9, appendix A, -- I'm sorry, I want to make sure I've got the... schedule 9, K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  EXHIBIT J, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 9, APPENDIX A

MR. MILLAR:  And finally, Exhibit J, tab 3, schedule 7, appendix B, page 1 of 3, K1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  EXHIBIT J, TAB 3, SCHEDULE 7, APPENDIX B, PAGE 1 OF 3

MR. VELLONE:  Finally, my question for the panellists:  Do you adopt this evidence as your own evidence in this proceeding?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.

MR. McLORG:  Yes.

MR. SEAL:  Yes, I do.

MR. VELLONE:  Toronto Hydro understands that the purpose of this hearing is to allow for further clarification of responses by Toronto Hydro to the IRs, so Toronto Hydro will be leading no evidence in-chief.

Having the benefit of the prefiled evidence and the IR responses, with that the witnesses are available for cross-examination.


MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.  Mr. Buonaguro, I understand you have volunteered to open it up?
Yes, thank you, I will take credit for volunteering.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Buonaguro:


MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning, panel.  I am going to be using the audio-visual system in the room to show you what I am looking at when I am asking you questions, to just make sure we are all on the same page and it might help some of the people in the room who might not have easy access to the documents.

I am going to be starting with table 1 in your evidence, which I am putting up on the screen here.  It is at page 5 of 11.  In particular, I think I have said I am looking at table 1.

Now, my understanding is that this basically represents all of the money that you are asking for in this proceeding; is that correct?

MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And it breaks down into a number of categories, and if I do a little bit of math, you can split it into two categories, remediation costs and scanning costs?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I believe that the scanning costs are simply the $4.15 million under scanning contractor cost, and then continuing, continued scanning expenditures of 2.41 million added together to get 6.56 million.

MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And your remediation costs is the remainder of 7.79 million?

MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, we asked an interrogatory about this table, and specifically we asked whether this represented just THESL's costs or included THESI's costs and the answer was it is just THESL's costs; is that correct?

MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you able to tell me what THESI's costs are?  Because I understand both companies did work on this project and we have THESL’s costs, but we don't have in the evidence anywhere how much THESI actually spent.

MR. COUILLARD:  THESI is an unregulated business.  This is not information that we believe we should be releasing here.

MR. BUONAGURO:  When you say "should be releasing" because of confidentiality concerns?

MR. COUILLARD:  I don't think this is subject to this proceeding.  We are not asking for recovery of the costs related to -- that THESI would have incurred in this proceeding.

MR. BUONAGURO:  True.  But one of the issues is whether the costs were prudent; correct?

MR. COUILLARD:  Which costs?  The THESL costs, the issue of prudency would apply to THESL costs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  But in terms of evaluating the THESL costs, one of the comparators would be one of the partners you had in doing this work would be THESI.  So in order to determine whether at least partially what, whether THESL was prudent in its costs, it would be useful to see what your partner did in its part of the -- in its part of the remediation, for example.  I am asking if you can provide a similar break down for THESI.

MR. COUILLARD:  Once again, we are not asking for recovery of those costs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand.

MR. COUILLARD:  We don't believe that we should produce costs.  This is an unregulated business.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess I am in the hands of the Board, then, whether they should be compelled to produce a similar table showing what THESI spent on this program.

MR. VLAHOS:  Compel someone that is outside the room, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I don't think he didn't have the information.  He just said he didn't want to produce it.

MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, Mr. Chair.  We don't have that readily available.  We would have to go back and get the information specifically incurred by THESI.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It would be by way of undertaking.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, one of the issues is whether -- one of the issues here is whether the right people are paying for the right things.  Clearly you need to know what the whole cost is to know whether it has been split up between the people correctly.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Couillard, could you undertake, please, to provide the information, and if for any reason you believe, the company believes it should not be provided then we would expect to hear some strong compelling reasons why not.

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  We will give that an undertaking number, subject of course to, we are not sure exactly what will come back.  But we will call it J1.1, and that is to provide a table similar to table 1 in the prefiled evidence for THESI's costs.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE A TABLE SIMILAR TO TABLE 1 IN THE PREFILED EVIDENCE FOR THESI'S COSTS

MR. VELLONE:  Can I register an objection to that undertaking?  I just don't see the relevance of asking for a detailed breakdown of costs that the applicant is not seeking to recover in this hearing.  We can do a thorough examination of the costs that they are seeking to recover, but I really don't see the relevance of asking for a competitive affiliate to file evidence about what costs they incurred in remedying the contact voltage situation when we are not seeking recovery of those costs.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Buonaguro, are you asking for a line-by-line comparison on that table?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I can tell you, for example, in table 1, if you look at scanning contractor costs of 4.15 million, and then continued scanning expenditures of 2.41 million, we don't know -- because they haven't filed information on it -- whether those are the only scanning costs that were incurred or whether THESI has contributed to some of the scanning costs.  And that is one issue that would be resolved by filing information.

Second, in terms of line-by-line, what we're going to be -- it is clear on the evidence that this was a joint venture, that sometimes it was THESL doing the repair, sometimes it was THESI doing the repair, and that means that there was a breakdown between the two companies about who repaired what.

So I am picking numbers out of the of the air, I don't know what the actual breakdown is, but for example it may be THESL did 50 percent of the work and THESI did 50 percent of the work.  If that is true, then presumably the costs for remediation would be basically similar but we don't know because we haven't seen the information.  So I would like to be able to compare the two, compare that to what the breakdown of work was between the two to see if it is supportive or non-supportive of whether the costs were prudent.

I mean, this is a very high-level breakdown here.  I am actually going to be asking questions to get a more precise breakdown, but I thought I would start with the easier one.

MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Chair, if I might respectfully have a bit of -- bring a point here.

What the unregulated affiliate was doing during that is all of their employees, so as the THESL employees were working on that.  So we are talking a staff of about 35 people working basically for a full month the same way that THESL staff were working.  So there is the compensation including some overtime as well.  In the same type of fashion that THESL was incurring, I can state that there were no scanning costs incurred by the unregulated affiliates.  All of the scanning costs were undertaken by THESL.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So if I can follow up on that.  If you were to produce this table for THESI, you would have a figure under labour regular time?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  And I would have a figure -- sorry, Mr. Buonaguro.  They would have a figure as well on labour indirect and labour overtime.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Let me just use the actual line items here.  Under labour-regular time you would have a figure, yes?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Under labour-overtime you might have a figure?

MR. COUILLARD:  Subject to check, I believe so.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then electrical contractor costs.  So contracted costs outside of THESI, would there be some figure there?

MR. COUILLARD:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So all of the contractor costs were incurred by THESL.

MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Under scanning contractor costs, there would be a zero?

MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Because THESL undertook, I guess, to pay the entire costs of the scanning?

MR. COUILLARD:  Because THESL led the entire remediation and inspection initiative.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  For inventory materials, would they have some figure there?

MR. COUILLARD:  Subject to check, some small miscellaneous things would be in there, as well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then I guess some other figure would be possible?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  Once again, subject to check, it would be fairly small in comparison to the costs that are in THESL, and, really, a lot of it is based on the head count.  As I said, there was 33 people working on this initiative, which is the staff of the unregulated affiliate.

MR. McLORG:  Mr. Chair, if we could have a moment to confer?

MR. VLAHOS:  Certainly.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. COUILLARD:  Maybe just for a point of clarification here, Mr. Chair, THESL basically led the entire initiative.  So we could consider, like THESI, it was acting as a sub-contractor in this particular case of THESL.  However, none of their costs are included in the sub-contractor, electrical contractor costs.  But, really, this was a THESL initiative.

The scanning was work that was performed that was aimed at scanning the entire system, not only related to any specific part of our equipment.  So we basically scan everything from customer-owned equipment to our own equipment.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So this was a THESL project?

MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And without the THESI items, I actually don't know what the total project costs; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  Well, we are not seeking for the project costs that were related to THESI.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand that, but if I want to see what the total project costs, I can't, because you won't give me the THESI numbers?

MR. COUILLARD:  Well, we don't believe that, like, the THESI work performed was actually part of this project.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry?

MR. COUILLARD:  We are not asking for recovery and, therefore, we are not putting the -- we have not put the THESI costs in this project.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So now I am just getting confused.  Maybe I could turn it over to the Panel and see if we can just get the number.  I mean, in terms of the competitive aspect, I am happy to have it in confidence, if that is a problem.  If they say they don't have the number, they can explain why they don't have the number, but...

MR. McLORG:  Well, Mr. Buonaguro, I think the root of our objection is really the one of relevance.  We have been directed by the Chair - and we will certainly abide by that direction - to provide the numbers that you seek for THESI.

But we would do so under objection, more or less, that they have no relevance to this proceeding.  That is a matter for argument, and I think that is the most we can say.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine.  I am happy to leave it to argument, but as long as I have the numbers.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Buonaguro, just to be clear, you are not accepting the testimony that there are no electrical contractor costs associated with THESI?

MR. BUONAGURO:  From our exchange, I know --

MR. VLAHOS:  We are going line by line now.

MR. BUONAGURO:  From the exchange we had, I know where the zeros are.  I just want the numbers where there are numbers.

MR. VLAHOS:  So you are looking at inventory and materials, you are looking at "other", and you are looking at the labour-related costs?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  You will not accept the evidence that the inventory and materials and "other" are relatively small?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I mean, it depends on what "small" means.  I mean, for "other" --

MR. VLAHOS:  A lot smaller than the $1.01 million for inventory and materials, and a lot smaller than 59,000 for "other".

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't know what the number is, so I can't comment on whether it is small or not.

I mean, I am in your hands.  They have said they would abide by the direction and argue relevance at the argument stage.  So I think we are done on this, if I might be so bold.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. McLorg, again, could you just repeat what the company is willing to provide, having heard the last exchange?

MR. McLORG:  Well, Mr. Chair, Toronto certainly accepts your direction to provide a replica of table 1 for THESI.

Mr. Couillard's testimony was that that table will consist largely of zeros or immaterial amounts.  But there will be a figure for regular time and we believe, subject to check, that there will be a figure for overtime.

But, nevertheless, we still assert that THESI was acting functionally as a sub-contractor for THESL, which itself takes responsibility for the entire operation and the costs thereof.

I don't know what more we can do to underline the fact that we are not seeking THESI's costs.

MR. VLAHOS:  I understand that, Mr. McLorg.  I guess the question is or the position of the intervenors is that:  How can they pursue prudence of the claimed amounts without knowing the total picture?  Is it 99 percent of the total costs, or is it 50 percent of the total costs or some other number?

I think that is where they are coming from.

MR. McLORG:  Well, sir, in order to be helpful for the rest of this hearing, I think that we could say qualitatively that the THESI costs are a very minor component of the overall, but we will provide specific figures and we hope to be able to do that certainly today, perhaps after the break.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  So let's leave it on the basis, then, that you will provide -- you will undertake to provide a replica of table 1 for THESI, and, if you feel that this table should be confidential, then we can treat that accordingly.

MR. McLORG:  Yes.  We will make submissions about that confidentiality issue at the time, sir.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Now, we also asked an interrogatory in relation to this table asking for a further breakdown with respect to labour regular time, labour overtime.  I am just trying to give you the exact undertaking response.

MR. McLORG:  Would it be your Interrogatory No. 2, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I believe it is.  In any event, you basically described what labour overtime and labour base time was, correct -- regular time was?

MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And we actually asked you for work sheets and such, and you didn't respond to that part of the interrogatory, so I just want to recast it this way and see if we can come to an agreement.

What we are looking for - and, again, we will look at table 1 - for the labour components, labour regular time, labour overtime, my understanding from the evidence is that there is a breakdown in that amongst the various types of employee that THESL has; i.e., there is management, union, non-union labour.

There is a spread across those, and maybe other categories, in terms of where that 3.37 million, for example, comes from?

MR. COUILLARD:  Sorry, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What I would like to get is the breakdown between those different categories.

MR. COUILLARD:  This might not be readily available.  We could probably -- I mean, I am not sure this is a today type of response, Mr. Chair.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine.

MR. COUILLARD:  I can say that subject to check, like, overtime was not paid for management.  Overtime was only related to union people.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. COUILLARD:  So this one is easy.  On the regular time side, I probably can get you a better answer after the break as far as how long would it take for us to go and get this information.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That's fine.  I will take that undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  That's undertaking J1.2, and it is to provide a breakdown under table 1, lines R5 and R6, between management, union and non-union employees.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have an executive, as well.  I think you understand what I am talking about.  You have different categories that this money can get into, and you will break it down between those different categories of employee, and then also the overtime, split for each category between regular time and overtime?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN UNDER TABLE 1, LINES R5 AND R6, BETWEEN MANAGEMENT, UNION AND NON-UNION EMPLOYEES.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Now, I am going to turn to one of our IRs.  This is Exhibit J, tab 3, schedule 1.  We asked you about tracking the costs.

It says here, the second sentence:
"During this Level III emergency event, THESL staff and our contract partners inspected and serviced 65,499 asset locations."

Could you give me an idea of what that number represents, the 65,499 asset locations?

MR. LaPIANTA:  That represents a total sum of a number of components, handwells being one of them.  Handholes, that is the inspection plate and the actual streetlight pole.  Vaults, where the secondary connection points are made to the buses.  But predominantly it is streetlight poles.  Streetlight handholes, and the handwell in the boulevard.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, does that include the items that were scanned by the contractor?  I can't remember the name.  Does that include the third-party equipment like building, business improvement area lighting and bus shelters and things like that.

MR. LaPIANTA:  No, it does not.  This does not in any way reflect any of the items that were scanned by the scanning contractor.  These are our own resources --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. LaPIANTA: -- addressing only THESL plant.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So if we turn to, this is an Energy Probe interrogatory, J -- I don't have the J number.  But it is Energy Probe No. 2.

I will pull it up on the screen.  Exhibit J, tab 2, schedule 2.  You were asked to break down where the contact voltage problems occurred.  Do you see that?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you said that, going back to the 65,499 asset location, and if you look at response A you say:
"A total of 21 percent of the contact voltage problems were caused by THESL equipment."


Does that mean that 21 percent of the 65,499 asset locations had problems?  Or how does that work?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Not all of the assets -- first of all, this question was interpreted to mean that this is the breakdown of which the scanning contractor found.  So that is separate and distinct from what Toronto Hydro or THESL crews and contractors went out and inspected and found instances of contact voltage.  This is what the scanning contractor found in his -- in scanning the city of the boulevard.

That is essentially approximately the breakdown.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So let me backtrack a little.  Is the information I have, I have 65,499 asset locations that I guess you hand inspected separately from the scanning contractor --

MR. LaPIANTA:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO: -- of the 65,499 locations that you, I guess, hand inspected, my understanding is just over 15,000 of those are handwells.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Of those, it is 15,032 from the evidence.  Of those 1,454 had problems?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So that means that out of the 65,499 asset locations that you hand inspected, we had problems with 1,454 handwells.

MR. LaPIANTA:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Plus -- and I am assuming there is a plus number.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Plus what was found by the scanning contractor.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would that suggest that -- you gave me a list of assets that were included in the 65,000.  And you agreed with me that the subset of handwells is 15,000.  And that a subset of that are the ones that had problems is 1,454.  That implies -- and that that was the only problems you had in those locations, plus what the scanner found.  That suggests to me that of the 65,499 asset locations you inspected, the only problems you had were with handwells and that was limited to 1,454 --

MR. LaPIANTA:  No, no.  Maybe the confusion is around what the actual scanning contractor does.  The scanning contractor does not essentially scan a particular location.

It is just, it is a widespread swath as he drives down the street, scans essentially the boulevard.  He in fact probably scanned, I would suggest, probably perhaps hundreds of thousands of assets throughout the city.  The 65,000 inspection locations were specific, discrete locations that THESL crews inspected.  And our contractors inspected.

Of those, only 1,400 were found to actually have contact voltage.  Why?  Because first of all, they're inspecting during the day.  The streetlight system is on at night.  What we found during the remediation effort is that the situation was not static.

Where contact voltage existed during the day, it didn't exist at night.  And where it existed at night, it didn't exist during the day notwithstanding the fact streetlighting system is not energized during the day.  So there is no correlation between the two.

This is what our crews found when they opened up the handwell, they looked down inside and they put a volt meter on the equipment, they found there was some leakage.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  It also suggests to me that in terms of this -- I have been calling it I guess the hands-on inspection or something like that, the only problems that were detected related to handwells, if there was any other kind of problem it was found by the scanning crew.

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.  That's not true.  I apologize, I'm fighting a little bit of a bug.

There was problems found in the handwells.  There was problems found at the signalized intersections, the traffic lights.  There was problems found at the handholes and the poles.  There was problems found on private property just by virtue of the fact that they saw something that -- they witnessed something there with the voltmeter that appeared very peculiar.  So it wasn't just in the handwell itself.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So going back to the number, then.  You inspected 65,499 by hand.

I know from another interrogatory response that that produced or that found 1,454 problems with handwells.  But that means there is an additional number that you found doing that hand inspection and I don't know what the number is.  Can you help me with that?

MR. LaPIANTA:  I would have to go back and see if we actually broke it down like that.  Our focus was clearly on the handwells, and without a doubt the vast majority of the contact voltage instances were with handwells.

I have to go back to see if we actually even identified that.  If they were found, they were remediated, but I am pretty sure we only collected the handwell locations.  That was the vast majority of the problem.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps I can take that undertaking to see what you have on that.

MR. MILLAR:  J1.3.  Mr. Buonaguro, could you repeat that please, so we are clear.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  To see what information is recorded with respect to the results of the hand inspections and, for example, we know that the hand inspections revealed 1,454 "handwell problems."  What additional problems were identified with the hand inspections, the hands-on inspection, I will call it.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO SEE WHAT INFORMATION IS RECORDED WITH RESPECT TO THE RESULTS OF THE HAND INSPECTIONS, WHAT ADDITIONAL PROBLEMS WERE IDENTIFIED WITH THE HANDS-ON INSPECTION.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

That actually helps me then in terms of our discussion.  This Energy Probe Response No. 2, A, B and C, this is a breakdown of what the scanners found.  Correct?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I know now, from our earlier discussion about THESI that there was only that one scanning contractor.  So this is all that was found.  There is no THESL scanning, plus THESI scanning that would give me even more numbers?


MR. LaPIANTA:  No.  Keep in mind that logically our crews have no way of detecting contact voltage in anything but their plant.  So this, we were not going out answer inspecting BIAs so that is why this question in and of itself reflects what the scanning company found because they're scanning the boulevard.  Our crews went out and only inspected our plant, okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  So you inspected your plant, found a number of problems.

MR. LaPIANTA:  When I say "our plant", let me clarify.  Our plant meaning the hand hold, the handwell, and streetlight poles which obviously is THESI.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then the scanner, in addition to that the scanner, found a number of other problems and this is the percentage breakdown of what they found.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That is basically scanning third-party equipment.

MR. LaPIANTA:  It is private.  There were situations where we found contact voltage on people's garage doors, contact voltage on awnings on commercial businesses.  So they scan everything.  It is indiscriminate.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess part of that, my understanding from what you are telling me is the reason why you do it that way is because you can't go around -- you don't have the facility to scan private property.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, the technology is such that -- I mean you can't really focus it on a particular asset.  So our approach was to mitigate the impact to worker and public safety, and in doing so, a decision was made just to blanketly scan the boulevard.


MR. BUONAGURO:  When it says "a total of 21 percent of the contact voltage problems were caused by THESL equipment," what could that include?

MR. LaPIANTA:  It could have included breakdown in insulation in the secondary mains inside the handwell.  It could have included a breakdown actually in the transformer vault where the secondary interface emanates from the transformer vault.

It could have been our primary -- our primary -- our main neutral in the secondary bus.  That could have been faulty, those types of things.  It could have been the lid on the handwell.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess what happened here is that, for example, the scanner would go down the street.  They would see a contact voltage problem with, for example, a streetlight, and then they would -- you would follow up and inspect the cause of that, and in 21 percent of the cases it was the connection between -- somehow the connection between the THESL equipment and the THESI equipment in that case, in that scenario?

MR. LaPIANTA:  It may have not been connection.  It may have been the actual equipment itself.  But, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am not an engineer.

MR. LaPIANTA:  That's fine.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I use the word "connection" very loosely.

MR. LaPIANTA:  The scanning contractor doesn't actually fix anything.  They only identify a contact voltage location, at which point they stand by until our crews respond.  They can't leave the location, because it is unsafe, obviously.

So our crews will arrive on sight.  They will try to analyze the situation and determine where the source of the contact voltage is.  If they can fix it and it is our equipment, they will.  If they can't, they will cut it clear, isolate it and make it safe, and then notify the asset owner subsequently to come in and fix the situation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Then if you look at answers B and C, 25 percent for THESI equipment and 54 percent for customer, BIA, TTC and Toronto traffic assets, that tells me that approximately 79 percent of the contact voltage problems that were identified by the scanner were caused by problems in the third-party equipment?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Not necessarily in third-party equipment, but, invariably, at a combination of the third-party equipment itself or at the connection point in our -- to THESL's distribution system.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am a little confused, because it seems pretty blunt an answer.  In B, for example, a total of 25 percent of the contact voltage problems were caused by THESI equipment.  In C, it says the same things were caused by customer, BIA, TTC and Toronto traffic assets.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.  So, for example, if a BIA has connected a string of decorative lights - private decorative lights, not city lights - into one of our handwells and the connection lacks integrity, we deem that to be a contact voltage situation caused by that third-party asset owner, in this case, the BIA, just using that as an example.

MR. BUONAGURO:  All right.  Thank you.

Now, I am just checking to see if our fulsome discussion has answered some of my questions, so I am just vetting them a little bit.

I would like to talk about incrementality for a second.  My understanding from the evidence -- and I guess I can throw up table 1 again just for some context.  When we are looking at the labour costs, for example, as it stands right now you have been paying the labour costs out of your 2009 revenue requirement; is that fair?

MR. COUILLARD:  I apologize.  We have been paying labour costs out of our normal operating costs so far, but those were not included in our 2009 revenue requirement.

MR. BUONAGURO:  What that means to me - and maybe you can confirm that I am correct - is that, as of right now, you haven't spent more than your revenue requirement, your approved revenue requirement, for 2009.  What you have had to do is reallocate what that money was spent on.

So, in this case, you have $14.35 million of contact voltage expenditures you are trying to recover, and, as of right now, how is that being paid, is the question?  And the answer, right now, is that you have reallocated resources within your revenue requirement to that purpose and presumably away from some other purpose?

MR. COUILLARD:  What we have done is basically increased the amount of work to be done over the remaining portion of the year.

So we have incurred more costs to complete our program.  So our view is that we would still complete our capital programs and our maintenance program, because, you know, currently our assets are aging and we didn't want to suspend all of our work on the assets for that.

We are basically incurring, for example, more overtime in the remainder of the year.  We have also incurred people -- labour costs that should have been capitalized are now being flowed into operating.

As an example, if somebody was being capitalized, we would recover the costs of the salary over a 20-year period, the average life of our asset, just as an example.  If somebody goes to put a pole in the ground, his time is also included in the pole.  If the person goes and works on an emergency, like this one, which is not capital in nature, then the entire amount of salary, actually, it is our operating expenditure.

So we, in our 2009 revenue requirement for a lot of those employees, because most of the employees that have worked -- that are included in the labour pool that you see there were union employees doing -- you know, field staff and employees would have been capitalized.

So a portion of their salary, approximately 4 to 5 percent of their salary, if you look on a 20-year normal recoup period, would have been included in our rates for 2009.

Because of that, we have rerouted some of their work.  We basically carry the entire burden of their salary right now.  That is one of the arguments that we are putting forward, as far as this is an increasing cost for us, because we are really -- in our rates, there is approximately 5 percent of the salary that is presently -- that is currently in our 2009 rates, and we have no hope to go and recoup that in the future.

MR. McLORG:  Mr. Buonaguro, if I may add briefly to Mr. Couillard's answer, I think that you can hopefully think about the issue of incrementality as being composed of two separate questions.

The first question is whether or not the subject costs were actually part of the 2009 revenue requirement, and our evidence is that they were not.  And I think that that evidence is fairly clear, but we are quite prepared to answer any questions you may have about that.

The second question having to do with incrementality is whether, as a result of the Level III emergency, there were any avoided costs that would normally have formed part of our work plan, and that is a separate question.  And, again, our evidence is that, no, we did not and will not avoid any of the regular costs that were planned to be incurred as a result of our planned work activities.

Otherwise, the question, How are these activities being funded?  Well, I just wanted to point out that revenue requirement is a totally regulatory concept.  It does not provide any funding, whatsoever.  All of the costs that are incurred by THESL are funded by THESL.  So the revenue requirement doesn't provide any funding, at all.

But it is meaningful to ask whether or not certain costs were included, or not, in the approved revenue requirement.  I hope that is helpful.

MR. BUONAGURO:  It may be.  I will find out in a minute.  Thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Mr. Buonaguro, can I just follow up for a minute?  I just want to make sure I understand this.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sure.

MR. VLAHOS:  I was a bit confused about Mr. Couillard's explanation.  The capitalization versus expensing, it is not part of the $14.5 million; right?  It doesn't enter into the calculation of the $14.35 million relief that you are seeking?

MR. COUILLARD:  No, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  So the reason that you brought that up is what?

MR. COUILLARD:  It's the notion of incrementality.  So if we -- if someone made the argument that the salary of a line person was actually included in our rate, the compensation of this person would have been included mainly through capitalization, which we're not recovering 100 percent in any given year.  We are recovering over a long period of time.

And that is the -- now, in this particular case, this would be treated as operating expense.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  But you are not seeking relief of that part of it, the fact that those costs were capitalized for rate-making purposes, but now they're expenses for this year, you are not seeking relief for that, are you?

MR. COUILLARD:  We are seeking relief for the costs that we have incurred for this particular project.

MR. VLAHOS:  Right.  The other thing is the revenue requirement, the ratemaking, but I take that as a commentary, you are not asking for relief that -- when the last time we fixed rates, there were certain capitalization of labour embedded into those rates.

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  Now that may change because of this emergency situation.

MR. COUILLARD:  Correct.  We are not asking for that.

MR. VLAHOS:  You are not asking for that.  So it is just a commentary?  All right.  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Perhaps I can follow up for my own benefit so -- I want to understand the same issue.

If you could assume a hypothetical, as I am sure you won't consider it unless it is a hypothetical.

Let's assume that your 2009 costs in these areas of compensation, for example, you weren't going to complete your program.  You actually simply reallocated the 14.35 million that you asked for in 2009, you are simply reallocating to this project and not doing 14.35 million of other work, okay.  So that is the hypothetical.  I understand you say you are, but -- you are going to do that work, but let's assume you are not, okay.  You agree with the hypothetical situation.

MR. McLORG:  We can accept that as a hypothetical, Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you, thank you.  The issue between expensing versus capitalization is that, basically -- I don't mean it pejoratively -- but your complaint is that that 14.35 million in -- as it appears in the 2009 rates has a certain assumption with respect to capitalization of labour.  And spending it in the emergency context as opposed to what it was intended to be in the revenue requirement has a different split between expense and capitalization.  And, therefore, you are complaining that you have expensed more of that, correct, than you would have had you done the normal program; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  Sorry, I am trying to go through the hypothetical mode.  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But you would agree at the same time that means that you have an inflated rate base.

MR. COUILLARD:  No, I would not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, let's say, to make it clean.  Well I guess we can use the number.  I think you said of the labour, regular time and overtime, you've got $5.5 million in labour, right, that you are asking for here?

MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I think you said that the way that the compensation appears in your 2009 rates, it is only 5 percent expense and 95 percent capitalized.

MR. COUILLARD:  Subject to check.

MR. BUONAGURO:  My understanding is that if it is 95 percent capitalized, that means that it gets put into rate base and earned over time.

MR. McLORG:  But, Mr. Buonaguro, if I could just perhaps offer a clarification.

The expenditures shown in table 1 are strictly operating expenditures.  None of these dollars are capitalized.  None of the labour shown here --

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand.  But what you are saying is -- accepting my hypothetical that all you did was change the purpose of the money and not asking for extra money.  That is just the hypothetical.  You are saying, Yes, we are spending 14.35 in this project.  We would have spent it somewhere else in accordance with our 2009 plans, but we are not.  We are spending it on the emergency itself and we are not going to make it up somewhere else.  We are not going to add 14.35 million down the line to make up those programs so we come out at the end of the year exactly where we thought we were.

If all you are doing is reallocating the 14.35, the impact of the reallocation is that you are expensing more than you thought you were and capitalizing less than you thought you were, and your complaint is well that means that instead of capitalizing a big chunk of that $5.5 million worth of labour, we have had to expense it which means we pay it now.

My suggestion to you that there is a counterpart to that, which means that at the same time that is happening, you actually have more in your rate base than you actually capitalized.  So over time, you are going to come out even, it is just you pay it more now but you are going to earn it later.  Whereas you thought it was going to get earned later because it had been capitalized.

MR. VLAHOS:  I think it is getting a big too much of a hypothetical side, Mr. Buonaguro.

The rates will be reset at some point before 20 years.  I guess your spent is or the point that everything else being equal, if there was some assumption how much you are going to expense for a test year, okay, in this case I guess it is 2009, right, and how much of the labour would be capitalized, now that balance has shifted.

So if you don't change anything else, I guess the company is saying that the rates would have been higher for 2009.  And I take your point that the rate base is inflated because there will be less capitalized, but we have to remember that capitalizing something in terms of ratemaking means a fraction of the dollar  while expensing is a full dollar.  One dollar is 100 cents, in this case.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. VLAHOS:  So I am not sure how far we are going on this, and what we are trying to get at it.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think the most important person in the room understood what I was trying to say, so I can move on.  Thank you.  Unless the company has any other questions on that?  Of me.

MR. VLAHOS:  We will see what the argument will become.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, my hypothetical, based on your evidence -- you -- you don't agree the hypothetical is the reality, obviously; correct?

MR. McLORG:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And this is from VECC IR No. 1, part B which is Exhibit J, tab 3, schedule 1.  I think you have a discussion of this point.

I just want to make sure I get the right part of it.  Here you are talking about, in part B, I am looking at the second paragraph you say:
"Despite the delays related to the Level III emergency, THESL expects to deliver both its capital and maintenance programs for 2009.  In order to do so, THESL will most likely incur incremental overtime costs or incremental external contractor costs for the remainder of 2009."


Now, I put it to you that this is your evidence about how the emergency spending has impacted on your 2009 plans; right?  My point is this is the only evidence about how it is going to impact your 2009 plans.

MR. COUILLARD:  I think this is in the evidence that we put forward saying we are expecting to complete our plan.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But you haven't included any actual numbers.  What I mean by that is, if you look at the text, it says:
"THESL expects to deliver both its capital and maintenance programs for 2009", and "THESL will most likely incur incremental overtime costs or incremental external contractor costs for the remainder of 2009."


There isn't any actual evidence that that has happened or to what degree that will happen; correct?

MR. COUILLARD:  No.  We are actually -- the answer is, the interrogatories were done a few weeks ago towards the end of the summer.  We have a better handle right now on our forecast.  We are at the beginning of October now so we have a pretty understanding of where we are going to end the year.  We are planning, for example, from an overtime perspective to be at least two and a half million dollars over what we were expecting to be.

And we are expecting, right now, to complete all of our capital programs and our maintenance program as it was originally planned.

MR. McLORG:  A moment, Mr. Chair, if you wouldn't mind.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. LaPIANTA:  Just a further, some further information on that.

Again, the responses to the interrogatories happened some time near the end of the summer.  At that point, we anticipated incurring some additional overtimes to actually complete the 12 month program in 11 months is essentially what we are talking about.

In viewing the numbers at the end of Q3, it became clear to us given the economic downturn, a lot of the customer connection work, in fact somewhere in the vicinity of over $5 million has, in fact, not materialized.  So those resources that otherwise would have been driven to do customer connection work had been reassigned to complete the capital program coupled with additional overtime for the remainder of the THESL resources.

So that, together, allows us to complete the work program in the shorter time period.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I see.  What I am hearing is that as it turns out -- as we are talking today -- you actually had some labour to spare.  Is that a fair characterization?

MR. McLORG:  I think, Mr. Buonaguro, there is no difference between our experience this year and what is usually experienced by a utility, in terms of comparing its actual costs and activities to its forecast and eventually the approved revenue requirement that rates are based on.

So the variance that Mr. LaPianta just spoke of, with respect to customer connections, for example, is a way in which reality unfolded in a slightly different way than we expected when we put forward our rate case for 2009.

But that doesn't -- I don't accept your characterization that somehow or other we had spare labour or spare costs.  There is always going to be a difference between what is forecast and eventually approved and what actually materializes, and there is nothing different in this case.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I am going to put to you what I am understanding from that, and perhaps you can comment on it.

I take it from that that while you acknowledge that there may have been -- that the labour that was required to do the emergency work, insofar as it is overlapping with labour that was originally required for your plans, may have offset, so, in this example, in the example you are telling me, you are telling me -- I am going to use round numbers.  These aren't the actual numbers, but you needed $5 million for the remediation, the emergency program.

And your evidence is today, or at least in this application, is that that is $5 million of labour that was diverted from your normal programs, and, therefore, you should get that $5 million back.

As it turns out, you are only really diverting about $2.5 million away from your normal plans, because circumstances are such that you had about $2.5 million in labour available from somewhere else to complete your plans, so you don't actually have to go out and hire more people or get enough overtime to complete those plans.

But that is a normal variance, and you should be able to keep that variance, despite the fact that you spent $5 million in emergency planning?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Let me just clarify.  The $5 million I referred to is in fact the total customer connection cost that we had forecast.  Embedded in that is obviously THESL labour and a considerable component of customer contributions, which are funded by the customer.

So I didn't mean to assume that that was $5 million worth of labour.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I just used a round number.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Because the emergency -- the labour that is included in the emergency amount is around 5.5 million in table 1, and it was just for an example.

You are telling me that you had to reallocate some of your existing labour force to the emergency program.  You want that entire amount back, because you are going to need that to finish your 2009 plans.  But as it turns out, you don't need that to finish your 2009 plans, because you had extra available labour, to some amount, but you don't want to offset that against what you are recovering today?

MR. COUILLARD:  I think that, you know, if I might add here, the point that I think we want to clarify is this labour and -- just using your $5 million example, the costs for this labour would have been funded by the customer, because it was customer connection work, so through capital contribution.

So this labour that they're talking about, we would have never benefitted from the fact that there is no more customer connection.  Like, customer connection basically triggered a capital contribution, and most of the labour costs related to these people would have been funded through customer contributions.

So the reason that the customer didn't -- they didn't give us their money for connection.  We were able to take these people and assign them to this project, but that doesn't change the fact that, by not receiving the customer contribution, these people were not funded.  Like, they would have been funded through capital contribution, and they were not, because this work didn't materialize for us.

MR. McLORG:  Mr. Buonaguro, if I may add a little bit to that, I would also direct your attention, if I could, to our response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 5, which deals with this question.

Really, I think it is much simpler than the way it was portrayed in your question.  Our evidence is that we will, with the approved revenue requirement, complete our work plan for 2009.

And what we are saying is that the expenditures that were incurred with respect to the Level III emergency were never included in that revenue requirement, were incremental to it.  They meet the qualification and eligibility for Z factors, and so they can properly be treated as a distinct component of costs which we are now seeking recovery of.

So our basic evidence is that we are not asking for any change in our already approved 2009 revenue requirement, and we are saying that we will complete the work plan that that revenue requirement was meant to fund.

So we say, for example, in our response to Board Staff
No. 5, that we will at least exhaust our approved revenue requirement in this category.

Since the costs of our non-emergency plan work will not in fact be avoided, the costs set out in the applications are incremental and did not displace costs that would otherwise be incurred.

So, frankly, I think that is the clearest way that we can put it.  I personally was having a great deal of difficulty following the train of suggestion in your question.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, what I am getting from your response is a position, and that position is that once something qualifies as a Z factor - let's assume that this qualifies as a Z factor, for the purposes of what we're talking about - you were entitled to 100 percent of the costs of the Z factor, even if, as it turns out, there were offsets in terms of savings in your revenue requirement?

MR. McLORG:  That is not correct and that is not our position.

Our position, however, is different than the presumption of your question, and the presumption of your question is that there are avoided costs, otherwise, costs that were displaced by the Z factor event.

Our evidence is that there were no costs that were avoided.  There will be no costs that were avoided.

So in that special case, the avoided costs being zero, the Z factor costs become simply additive to the approved revenue requirement.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That helps, because I think we are a little bit at cross-purposes, because when I said offsets, I had sort of a general idea of offsets, for example, the compensation category.  And you are limiting offsets -- it appears from what you are saying that you would accept there could be offsets, but only if the offsets are specifically linked to the emergency work.

So if the emergency work causes you to save money somewhere else, then, yes, we will offset it.  I think you would agree with that?

MR. McLORG:  Yes.  Toronto's position would be that the net incremental cost of a Z factor event is the portion of it that is eligible for recovery, if you can make that case otherwise.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But you would not agree with the proposition, for example, that if the emergency Z factor costs are X and you reallocate resources towards it, but, as it turns out, there are offsets in other areas that you don't actually have to incur additional costs to accommodate the Z factor, you are saying, Well, that's too bad for ratepayers?

You are saying if we had $10 million to pay for the emergency event but it turns out we had $10 million available under our revenue requirement, because our revenue requirement was $10 million more than we actually were going to spend anyway, it doesn't matter, unless it is linked specifically to the Z factor?

MR. McLORG:  There has to be a specific linkage to the Z factor.  The application brought by Toronto Hydro does not comprehend a thorough resetting of the 2009 revenue requirement, and it is not an opportunity to reopen what the Board has already approved.

The specific linkage between the Z factor event and all of the costs that were consequential to that is the necessary ingredient in order for those costs to be considered by the Board.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So can I take it, then, in preparing this application, you would only have been concerned with looking at avoided costs that are linked to the Z factor?

MR. McLORG:  Yes.  We did not --

MR. BUONAGURO:  I don't necessarily agree there is a Z factor, but I think you understand.  You are applying for emergency Level III spending, and to the extent that there may have been avoided costs related specifically to that, you would have looked into that and put it into the application.

MR. McLORG:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But you don't see that there are any.

MR. McLORG:  Correct.  And just to be clear for the record, we also specifically did not go into a rendition of all of the other pluses and minuses that happen in our business in a normal year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That is something that would occur, for example, in the 2010 rate application that is pending?

MR. McLORG:  I'm sorry, what "something" are you referring to?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well you have an outstanding application --

MR. McLORG:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- for 2010 rates, right?

MR. McLORG:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Part of that application will be an examination of 2009.

MR. McLORG:  From a historical perspective.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

MR. McLORG:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Including -- well, having looked at the application recently, there would be, for example, a forecast where you would end up in 2009 just about every category of spending; correct?

MR. McLORG:  That is part of our evidence in the 2010 EDR, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I don't know when the -- when you wanted to break, Mr. Vlahos.

MR. VLAHOS:  Are you moving to a new area, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes, yes, I think so.  If it is convenient now, we could stop now.

MR. VLAHOS:  Let's break for 15 minutes, then.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:46 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 11:04 a.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. VELLONE:  Can I -- just a preliminary matter?

MR. VLAHOS:  Certainly, Mr. Vellone.

MR. VELLONE:  I neglected to introduce my colleague, Pankaj Sardana, who is a case manager from THESL, when we first started.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  That's it.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Sardana is well known to the Board.  No comments from others.  Mr. Buonaguro.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

Just briefly, we asked some questions about the scanning contract with PSC in the interrogatories and, in particular, we asked -- this is Exhibit J, tab 3, schedule 2.  Question No. E, your response to our questions about the contract, were that:
"Given the nature of the declared Level III emergency and the urgency to protect public safety at the time, THESL retained PSC as a 'sole source' (i.e., a tender was not issued to the market) service provider to provide mobile contact voltage detection services pursuant to corporate approved procurement policy."

Which is all to say there is no tender; right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.  Well, essentially, in the end, yes, but that doesn't suggest that there isn't a process around obtaining a sole source.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  In a non-emergency context, would you have been required to tender this contract?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Absolutely.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  Now, I am not going to pull it up again -- well, I guess I can, since I have the computer.  Table 1, when we are talking about the PSC contract, I think it is obvious that we're talking about the scanning contractor cost of $4.15 million?

MR. LaPIANTA:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, there is continuing scanning expenditures of $2.41 million for the rest of the year; correct?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is that also an emergency?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No, that is not an emergency.  We have made a -- collectively, we have made a conscious decision to continue the scanning indefinitely, in the interest of protecting the worker and public safety.

MR. McLORG:  Mr. Buonaguro, if I may add to it, as well, the thing that distinguishes the continuing scanning expenditures is that they were also incremental to the 2009 revenue requirement, if that is helpful to you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  But let me ask you this question.  Are there two separate contracts?  Was there a first contract for 4.15 million and the second contract for 2.41 million?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I don't believe you tendered the second contract, either?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No, we did not.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Despite the fact that is not an emergency?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You didn't --

MR. LaPIANTA:  Let me preface -- well, let me go back to what you said.

We did not tender the emergency situation.  That's not to say the outcome would have not been the same.  The reason being is that essentially the market is essentially sole sourced when it comes to this type of service, this type of technology.

So the original contract during the emergency was, in fact, geared towards a higher volume of units.  We had more trucks on the road.  And at that point, we negotiated with the vendor the prices, give or take, that other jurisdiction had been experiencing.

For the continued scanning, given what we learned during the emergency, we took a step back and we reflected on what -- actually what our needs were going to be moving forward, and, consequently, that is probably, if I understand your question, the difference in what you are seeing in the cost.

But, nonetheless, the outcome would have been the same.  We would have used the same vendor.  There isn't anybody else that we know that does this in this magnitude.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you didn't tender the second one.  You would agree, I think, that you are supposed to under normal circumstances when it is not an emergency, but you seem to be telling me that, Even if we had tendered, they would be the only person to apply?

MR. LaPIANTA:  That's correct.  The sole source policy or provisions at Toronto Hydro allow us to entertain a vendor which, in our opinion, provides the service that we are seeking to retain and allow us to enter into negotiations with that vendor to come to fruition to a contract.

The prices that we negotiate on an ongoing basis, given our different needs, are different from what we sustained during the emergency Level III.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Is there any documentation that sets out the process and the conclusions leading up to this decision that for the continued scanning expenditures, sole source rather than tendering was the only reasonable option?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.  We have internal procurement policies that allow us to engage in a sole source provision.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Maybe I was unclear.  I know you have policies, but is there anything documenting this particular decision?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Absolutely.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can I get an undertaking for that --

MR. LaPIANTA:  Certainly.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- to produce those documents?

MR. VLAHOS:  That's a bit open, Mr. Buonaguro.  Can you be a little bit more specific what you are looking for or find out what may exist?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I guess documentation relating to the selection of PSC as a sole source vendor for this particular service, specific to the continued scanning expenditures.

MR. MILLAR:  That's J1.4.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE DOCUMENTATION RELATING TO THE SELECTION OF PSC AS THE SOLE SOURCE VENDOR FOR CONTINUED SCANNING EXPENDITURES.

MR. McLORG:  Mr. Buonaguro, just so I can be clear, is it the case this you do not accept our evidence that PSC is the only firm, to our knowledge, able to offer these services?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand -- and I am going to characterize your evidence today.  My understanding of your evidence is, We were duly diligent in going directly to PSC to do the continued scanning.

In order for you to be to be duly diligent, you have to have paperwork to back that up in terms of the process you underwent.  I am simply looking for that paperwork, to verify it, that's all.  I think under normal circumstances you would have submitted it in the first place.

MR. McLORG:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, spilling over into 2010, I have taken a peek at your rate application.  My understanding is that there is $4 million in scanning costs for the same purposes for 2010 rates; is that correct?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And it's again --

MR. LaPIANTA:  US.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry?

MR. LaPIANTA:  US.

MR. BUONAGURO:  US?  Is it $4 million US?

MR. LaPIANTA:  It is $4 million US.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, I have to tell you that in the rate application, it is listed as $4 million and I don't think it makes a distinction between US and Canadian dollars.  So you might have an amendment to your rate application, unfortunately.

MR. McLORG:  Mr. Buonaguro, we became aware of that error, and we plan, in due course, to file a correction to our evidence.

That is one of the reasons that we would like the discussion here today to be confined to the evidence that is presented in this case.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I asked the question because, again, presumably the 2010 retainer with PSC comes up -- is somehow linked to the 2009 tender; is that correct?  Is it one contract over a number of years or is it separate contracts every year?  How does it work?

MR. LaPIANTA:  We have retained PSC on a term of three years.  The annual cost of the scanning is $4 million US per year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So the contract that you entered into for the $2.14 million is actually part of the contract which reflects 2010 rates?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes, that's correct.  We entered into the non-emergency contract, is the way you're characterizing it, sometime in around the beginning to the middle of August of this year.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am going to come back, just to warn you, that I think there might be some questions about how it figures into the 2010 rates, but I will leave it for a second.

I would like to ask some questions about allocation.  My understanding -- and I have the figures here.  I think the allocation of the $14.35 million that you are seeking splits into two different categories.

The remediation costs of approximately 7.71 -- 7.79 million are being allocated specifically to the streetlighting and USL classes; correct?

MR. LaPIANTA:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Then the remainder, the $6.56 million in scanning costs, which is essentially the PSC contracts, both emergency and the ongoing, the remainder for 2009 scanning costs are being allocated across all classes?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That is being done on a -- I think you call it a secondary customer base allocator?  Is that the right way to put it?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.  The number of connections on the secondary for each class is the allocator.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I would like to talk about the remediation costs first.  My understanding from your evidence -- I am going to paraphrase and you can correct me if I am wrong, but there is a letter from the Board talking about situations where you have to go out and do repairs to third-party equipment, and you have included it in your evidence.

MR. McLORG:  That's right.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Generally the policy is, if you are out there to fix third-party equipment, they pay for it directly, if you can get that paid.

MR. McLORG:  That's correct in the normal course of business, Mr. Buonaguro.

If there is a specific incident in which the owner of the asset is readily identifiable and has probably entered discussions with Toronto Hydro as to the nature of the defect that needs to be corrected and the costs that will be consequential there to, then those charges are, as a matter of normal business, assessed against the asset owner.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Because presumably it is because it is their assets that cause the need for the repair in the first place, a problem with third-party assets.

MR. McLORG:  That is a fair statement generally, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am going to paraphrase your evidence and you can correct me if I am wrong, but basically what you explained to us through your evidence and IRs is that you are not doing it that way directly getting it per customer per asset, because the scope of the undertaking was such that you didn't have the facility to track every asset repair.

So instead as a proxy for what the Board wants you to do, you are proposing to allocate those costs to the streetlighting in USL classes because that is where the costs reside in the first place.  It is their assets -- you would be recovering from those ratepayers in any event.

Therefore, allocating those costs to those classes is almost the same as getting it directly from them, those costs.

MR. McLORG:  In the end the result is the same, approximately.

I don't think that the two questions are directly related, as was implied in your question.  Because our practice, concerning the recovery of costs for customer-owned equipment in the normal course, is as I stated.  And there is no question of allocation around that.

Whereas your question seemed to imply that we were somehow departing from, quote, what the Board wanted us to do.


In our proposal, because of the circumstances that are that are explained in detail in our application, the best proxy that we can suggest is that the remediation costs be allocated proportionally to the connections on a secondary equipment for each of the USL and SL rate classes. I am sorry, Mr. Seal, I am taking words out of your mouth, aren't I?

MR. SEAL:  That is correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I understand.  So from your perspective, you are within the Board's direction in the sense that where it is impractical or impossible to identify the specific costs, you put the money into a deferral account and recover it, and then explain how you are going to recover it and you're explaining we are going to recover it on the basis you are proposing because it is actually quite a close proxy to finding each individual person and charging them their costs because of the way you are doing it.  You are proportioning it between USL and streetlighting presumably because streetlighting is almost all one customer or is one customer.  If you had identified each asset that you had repaired under the streetlighting asset category, you would all go to that customer anyway, for example.

MR. SEAL:  In the case of streetlighting, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The USL may be not so clear.  Presumably there are some USL customers who are paying the USL rate who didn't have any faulty equipment that caused any contact voltage problems that are going to get hit, are there?

MR. SEAL:  I think, in our evidence, we were clear in stating that based on the activities that we did in the Level III emergency, the tracking of those costs and knowing exactly who the customers were that were related to those particular assets that we had to remediate, was not possible.

So we feel that the allocation that we have come up with is the fairest one.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But particularly with respect to USL, what that means is -- you can't tell who it is going to be because of the tracking problem, but there is going to be somebody in the USL class who is being charged the rider or would be charged the proposed rider even though none of their equipment was faulty.  That's probable, unless you are saying that everybody in the USL class had at least one problem.

MR. SEAL:  That is not what we're saying.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.

MR. SEAL:  We are not saying that.  In reality it is like any other costs that we do on the system.

If we go out and have to repair a particular residential customer service for whatever reason, that service doesn't necessarily get charged directly to them.  It is part of the cost of the system.

So, in this case, the USL we weren't able to identify it.  The repairs we know were confined to those classes almost totally.  And the allocation methodology that we proposed, we think is the fairest one we can come up with.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now to flip over to the scanning costs.  You have come up with a very different way of allocating the costs.  Would you agree?

MR. SEAL:  We are allocating the scanning costs across all customer classes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And whereas I think you agreed with me that the -- the remediation proposal is a proxy for what is essentially considered a proxy for directly charging the costs of the customer and that would be appropriate because of cost causality.  I think it would be fair to say that in terms of the scanning costs, you have departed from cost causality as a principle governing the allocation of those costs.  Would you agree with that?

MR. SEAL:  I would disagree with that.  We have not departed from that principle.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So can you explain to me how cost causality fits into allocating the scanning costs across the system?

MR. SEAL:  The scanning costs that we incurred and will incur over this year are not confined to scanning particular assets or asset classes, or rate classes.

The scanning costs are incurred to scan the street level scans and, as Mr. LaPianta said earlier, in some cases we have found that contact voltage exists on assets that are not in the USL or in the streetlighting class.  So the scanning is a system cost, a system level cost, and therefore we are allocating it across the customer classes the way we would allocate the system level costs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Forgive me for a sec.  My computer has fallen asleep and I want to pull something up.

You said something there that I think it is the first I have heard it.  You are saying the scanning picked up problems that were not related to the USL or streetlighting classes.

MR. SEAL:  I was not involved in the actual scanning, but I believe what Mr. LaPianta indicated before is that the scanning did uncover potential cases of contact voltage that were not necessarily limited to streetlighting or USL.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Perhaps he can confirm that?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes, that's correct.  As I mentioned earlier, the scanning is indiscriminate.  It essentially scans the streetscape.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  I have to be very careful here.  And maybe you can turn up Energy Probe No. 2 while my computer is rebooting.

This is the ABC answer where you break down what the scanning found, okay.

I thought, my understanding was the scanning, the results of the scanning are such that 54 percent of the problems you found were caused by customer BIA, TTC, Toronto traffic assets; correct?  And 25 percent were caused by THESI equipment which is streetlights.  Or streetlight-related equipment; correct?  And my understanding of the remaining 21 percent of the problems that were found by the scanning were THESL equipment, which connected -- and in my word the connection, my simple use of the word connection -- that connected THESL's equipment to either THESI equipment or other unmetered scattered load equipment; is that fair?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So when Mr. Seal talks about finding non-streetlighting or USL-related contact voltage problems, what is he talking about?

MR. McLORG:  It is not completely clear to us, Mr. Buonaguro, what your difficulty is.

Are you saying that the list provided in the response is not exhaustive, or are you saying that we haven't provided evidence that some of the contact voltage problems were caused by, for example, residential garage doors and that kind of thing?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Are you suggesting it was caused -- that some the problems that you scanned for, found and remediated related to something other than streetlighting, USL assets or the connection between THESI and THESL or those USL assets?

MR. LaPIANTA:  During the scanning, we did not remediate anything that was not THESL.  It was made safe, and that meant either erecting a barrier or isolating the actual source of voltage, but we did not fix the problem.  It was essentially disconnected.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.

MR. SEAL:  Just to remind, we are talking about the scanning costs here, not the remediation costs.  The remediation costs we have allocated only to the streetlighting USL.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand that.  But your evidence is that the problems that you detected as a result of the scan entirely related to streetlighting USL.

MR. McLORG:  That's not our evidence.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So how many contact voltage problems did you detect as a result of the scan that did not relate in some way, shape or form to USL or streetlighting?

MR. McLORG:  Mr. Buonaguro, in our tracking of the Level III emergency, we didn't gather information on the basis that you request.

We gathered information primarily as it related to our assets, but we did not track and record information as to the assets of every other non-Toronto Hydro entity in the city.

MR. LaPIANTA:  We essentially had three categories, THESL equipment, THESI equipment, and then a bucket of "other", which could have been a host of private, BIAs, TTC and so on.

MR. McLORG:  Underlying your question, too, I think is an assumption that I don't accept, which is essentially that scanning is, itself, a form of remediation, and that is not true.

Scanning is undertaken as a kind of inspection activity.  It is preventive, but it doesn't necessarily -- an inspection of equipment cannot necessarily be traced to the service to an individual customer, or even an individual rate class.

Inspection is an activity undertaken to maintain system safety and integrity, and it is not the same as remediation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So you are telling me that you undertook a $4.15 million scanning operation at the beginning of this year, in part, because of the potential for non-USL and streetlighting-related assets.

MR. McLORG:  We undertook it to maintain system safety and to correct what, in our opinion, was an emergency situation presenting unacceptable risks to the public.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You have identified in Energy Probe No. 2 that of the problems you found, 54 percent were customer, BIA, TTC and Toronto traffic assets and 25 percent were THESI equipment, which means that, in my mind, 79 percent of that related to USL and streetlighting; is that correct?

MR. McLORG:  Well, I think our evidence generally is that --

MR. BUONAGURO:  All I need is a yes or no.

MR. McLORG:  Pardon me?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Did 79 percent of the problems that were found relate to USL and streetlighting assets?

MR. McLORG:  Well, could you explain in more detail what you mean by "related to".

MR. BUONAGURO:  What I mean is contact voltage problems caused by THESI equipment, and contact voltage problems were caused by customer BIA, TTC and Toronto traffic assets.  That is your answer.

MR. McLORG:  But our evidence, Mr. Buonaguro, is that the complexity of the underground secondary system means it is the case that contact voltage can be exhibited, manifested, or in this answer we have used the term "caused", by a particular piece of -- it may be exhibited by a particular piece of equipment, but the underlying root cause may be elsewhere.  So the ground --

MR. BUONAGURO:  Can I interrupt for a second?  Can you -- you have a record of all of the repairs that you made?

MR. LaPIANTA:  We have a record of the locations that we visited, but not necessarily the work that was done at each location.

The general guidelines for the crews were to make safe, so to inspect; if there were any visual degradation, repair it and make it safe.

So to the extent that -- yeah, I mean, we know the locations we visited.  Keep in mind that what Mr. McLorg is referring to is a piece of streetlighting equipment may be exhibiting the contact voltage, but the cause of that contact voltage could very well be back at the handwell.  It could very well be back at the interface point in the THESL vault.

It is not -- there is no silver bullet here.  It is a lot like ghost chasing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  In terms of the handwell, I think your earlier testimony was the handwell exists to connect unmetered scattered load and streetlighting; is that right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  That is the intent of the handwell, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That would be a streetlighting and USL-related problem, wouldn't it?

MR. LaPIANTA:  If the failure was found to be at the handwell.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  You mentioned the vault.  Are you suggesting that the vault may be something other than streetlighting or USL related?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Absolutely.  The vault could be a THESL primary voltage vault at which we take voltage from.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Where would volt problems fall into this breakdown, 54 percent, 25 percent and 21 percent?

MR. LaPIANTA:  It could very well be in the 25 and the 54, because -- I will give you an example.  There were several cases in which THESL equipment -- pardon me, THESI equipment was found to exhibit contact voltage.

The problem was, in fact, that the neutral feeding the THESI equipment had, in fact, lost its integrity.  So it was either broken in certain places, or the grounding wasn't sufficient to actually sink the asset, to ground the asset.  The problem was found back at the THESL vault, traced back hundreds of meters from where the actual contact voltage existed.

So if a particular streetlight pole was found to exhibit contact voltage, the cause of that contact voltage was not necessarily within that streetlight pole itself.  It could have very well been back at the Toronto Hydro vault.  It would have been at the handwell.

Those instances we did not track.  The contact voltage at the streetlight pole, that is how we identified the asset that had the failure.

MR. McLORG:  It could also be that our language in answering this interrogatory was unfortunate, because our interpretation of the question put by Energy Probe - innocently, I might add - was that it was intending to seek information on where the contact voltage was found.

And perhaps that is our fault by responding with the same word, but -- because you know, for example, we had to interpret it, in our minds, to a plausible view, because a streetlight pole by itself is not a source of voltage.  So it would be technically inaccurate to portray it as a cause of contact voltage, because it doesn't generate any voltage.

It can exhibit contact voltage, but what the point of my qualification here is simply to say that there is no solid ground here upon which to attribute causation in the normal sense that we do in a ratemaking context.

MR. BUONAGURO:  For the purposes of scanning costs specifically; is that what you mean?

MR. McLORG:  What I am suggesting is that the answer that is given to Energy Probe in Interrogatory 2 is not indicative of the underlying cause of the contact voltage that was discovered.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I think you -- in your evidence, and I may have the number slightly wrong, but I think I am in the ballpark.  The result of your proposal for allocation of the scanning costs is that residential consumers and small general consumers or ratepayers, general service ratepayers, end up paying about 86 percent of the scanning costs?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct, around there.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That is on the basis -- from what I am gathering from what you are telling me -- that is on the basis that the scanning, at least in some part, may detect problems that, for example, would exhibit in a residential-specific asset?

MR. SEAL:  They're system costs.  We allocated them on the same basis we would allocate those system costs in a normal cost of service hearing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am trying to determine whether that is appropriate, so I would -- what I am trying to determine is that because the scanning...

Let me ask you this:  86 percent of the costs to find the problems are being allocated to residential on your proposal.  I don't think I need agreement.  I think you have already agreed that is the result of your proposal.

MR. SEAL:  Eighty-six percent of these scanning costs have been allocated.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right, yes.  At the same time, you defend recovering 100 percent of the remediation costs, the need for which was identified by the scanning to the streetlighting USL because it is their assets that are causing the problem, or assets related to them that you happen to own.

MR. McLORG:  There is no connection between the two.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand there is no connection between the two.  That is why I am confused.  There is no connection between the scanning and remediation costs in the way you allocated them, even though the only reason you are scanning is to identify the remediation problems that you are allocating to the other two classes.  It makes no sense to me.  Maybe this is just a statement as opposed to a question.  But can you help me?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, the remediation and the scanning occurred in parallel streams.

The scanning was intended to limit or mitigate the risk of an electrical shock on the boulevard, regardless of the asset.

We found situations where we found Enbridge meters that had contact voltage on them.  We found garage doors that had voltage on them.  We found commercial awnings on Yonge Street with voltage on them.

The intent of the scanning was to mitigate the risk of an electrical shock on the boulevard.  The remediation effort was specifically our crews going to THESL locations, handwells or THESI streetlight poles.

Yes, the two are very different, and in fact the scanning, I think we used the word "preventive maintenance".  It is really not -- in the true sense, it is not a preventive maintenance program because what you are detecting is already a failure.  It is really more of a corrective maintenance program.  So it finds essentially a fault, then it is repaired.

No different than other corrective maintenance programs that we have in place for our stations, for our submersible vaults, things of that nature.  So the two are very much in parallel, but their objective are very different.

MR. BUONAGURO:  You think it is reasonable that even though 100 percent of the repairs that came out of that scanning were identified by you, and then charged or proposed to be charged to USL streetlighting customers through an allocation to their rate classes as a result of them being the cause of those problems, you think that --

MR. McLORG:  That's not, in fact, true.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- pay for the scanning.

MR. McLORG:  Not 100 percent of the problems identified by scanning were corrected by us or had costs related to them allocated to streetlighting or USL.  There were all kinds of instances of contact voltage on third-party equipment that was simply disconnected.

I think, Mr. Buonaguro, you know, in terms of factual evidence, we have provided the most that we have at our disposal to you and to the Board, and perhaps this is a matter for argument.  But I would ask the converse question:  Is there any basis to suppose that strictly the USL or streetlighting classes are responsible for the costs of correcting contact voltage, somehow related to our system, on assets that have nothing to do with them?

Our contention, our evidence is that the scanning activity is part of a corrective maintenance program, and its purpose under -- fundamentally is to prevent a serious incident of injury or worse to the public, to the public's pets and to pieces of equipment.

So we think -- and we will say this in argument, that our proposal for allocation is a reasonable one.  The facts speak for themselves.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I mentioned that the -- I might come back to the 2010 impact.  You talked about the 2010 rates including $4 million for scanning, as I recall.

MR. LaPIANTA:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And my understanding is that that is included as part of the overall maintenance.

MR. LaPIANTA:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And the overall maintenance budget would be allocated how in the 2010 rate case?

MR. SEAL:  It would be allocated according to the cost allocation model principles.  So it would go across all classes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  Which means that assuming everything is about the same, in terms of the numbers that feed into the cost allocation model, around 80 percent or more of those costs would continue to be allocated to residential and small general service customers?

MR. SEAL:  In our application before you today, for the contact voltage in 2009, we haven't explicitly run the numbers through the cost allocation model.  We have taken the principles of the cost allocation model and applied them here today.

So I can't say categorically that once the full dollars in 2010, which are part of the maintenance dollars, are run through the cost allocation model, that it would be exactly there.  But in principle, yes.  It would be allocated the same way.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Which means that at least in your proposal in this case and in the 2010 case and then going forward presumably because I think the scanning you are proposing for 2010 is also proposed in perpetuity, residential and small volume general customers will be continuing to pay the lion's share of scanning costs; correct?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, let me answer the question about perpetuity.  Perpetuity is a long time.

MR. BUONAGURO:  The foreseeable future?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, I think clearly, as we've stated, we secured the scanning contractor for a period of three years.  Our intent is to learn from what transpires within the next three years.  That is not to say that beyond the contract there isn't an alternative way of perhaps mitigating the risk of electrical shock on the boulevard.  But that, that will -- only time will tell.

We are learning as much as we can from other jurisdictions, and other people have been doing this a little bit longer than we have, and that, as of now, the most prudent course of action is to continue scanning indefinitely until either the plant is replaced or alternative risk of mitigating the risk on the boulevard comes to our knowledge.


MR. McLORG:  In principle though, Mr. Buonaguro, and not contradicting what Mr. LaPianta or Mr. Seal has said, it is our position that the scanning costs are part of a new maintenance activity that has been undertaken and will continue to be undertaken by THESL and that we ought to follow the principles set out in the Board's approved cost allocation model for the purpose of allocating those costs.

So that is our evidence and, again, if you want to raise it in argument, we will address that.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Buonaguro, I understand your issue is the allocation of the scanning expenditures and we have specific numbers in this proceeding.

I guess you, also your concern is to what extent the decision in this proceeding would play into the 2010?  Because I want to make sure we don't spend too much, about the 2010.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I actually wasn't going to pursue that further.  I just wanted to raise the, clarify that that type of approach, the allocation of the scanning costs is embedded in their 2010 rate case.  And presumably whether it is binding or not, people look to see how it is done before to see how it is going to be done in the future.  But I wasn't going to pursue it any further.

MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine.

MR. BUONAGURO:  One last area of questioning.

We have been -- and specifically I have been loosely referring to this as a Z factor application.  And that is based on your reference to Z factors in your application.

Is it fair to say that you are relying on the Z factor definition in the third generation IRM mechanism structure in terms of your ability to apply, in this case, for relief?

MR. McLORG:  That's a fair statement.  In addition, in our evidence at the appendix in the prefiled material, there is a letter from the Board to all LDCs dated March 4th.

The last substantive paragraph in that letter -- and I won't burden the record by reading the whole thing, but the last paragraph essentially advises distributors, in circumstances where it wasn't possible to identify discrete asset owners, to file the costs in account 1572 and seek disposition of these costs.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay, that's interesting.  I hadn't looked at that as being one of the grounds for the application.  I will explain why.

That letter is specific to third-party assets and your stepping in to repair them; correct?

MR. McLORG:  I did not understand it that way.  THESL did not interpret it that way.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Well --

MR. McLORG:  That letter essentially sets out the Board's expectation with respect to the conduct of business as usual or normal business.

The last paragraph specifically illustrates an exceptional departure from normal business.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm sorry, can you give me the cite again?

MR. McLORG:  Yes.  It is in our prefiled evidence.  It appears as appendix 1 entitled "OEB Letter to Electricity Distributors Re:  Wiring Faults", March 4th, 2009.

And the second page of that letter is the one that I am referring to.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Mr. Millar was kind enough to give me his paper copy, although I am loathe to admit on the record that I am using a paper copy.

The first sentence of that says:
"The Board recognizes in some circumstances distributors may seek future recovery of the costs of repairs due to customer-owned equipment or connections."

MR. McLORG:  I see that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So we are talking about -- this letter is in the context of the company having to go out and make repairs to customer-owned equipment or connections; right?

MR. McLORG:  I see what you are saying, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And I can understand why -- I guess this is for argument, but whereas I might be able to understand why that might relate to their remediation costs, the 7 million or so remediation costs, you have been very engaged with me in terms of characterizing the scanning costs as something other than being related to customer-owned equipment or connections.  Am I correct?

MR. McLORG:  That's fine.  If you interpreted my earlier statement as saying that this is the sole ground of our application, that's an incorrect interpretation.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So --

MR. McLORG:  I simply mentioned this, for the benefit of the record, as being an element of the Board's pronouncement that is relevant to this application.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Would you accept that with respect to the way you have characterized the scanning costs, that this letter wouldn't apply?

MR. McLORG:  Well, again, it is a matter for argument as to how to interpret this letter.

MR. BUONAGURO:  We can leave it to argument, then.

MR. McLORG:  Okay.

MR. BUONAGURO:  But in terms of the first ground which I brought up, which is the third generation IRM report and the Z factor --

MR. McLORG:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  -- all of the costs in this application occurred in 2009?

MR. McLORG:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And for THESL, 2009 is the second year of a cost of service application?

MR. McLORG:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So 2009 is not an incentive regulation mechanism year for THESL?

MR. McLORG:  That's correct.

MR. BUONAGURO:  And no surprise to you, then, when I say, technically, the Board report on Z factors as they fit into a scheme of incentive regulation mechanisms doesn't strictly apply to THESL?

MR. McLORG:  No, I don't accept that.  I don't think that there is anything in the Board's third generation report on IRM that specifically excludes utilities that are -- happen in that year to be under a cost of service rate-setting mechanism, and I would suggest to you that the underlying rationale for extending Z factor treatment is specifically to exempt extraordinary circumstances from the routine application of a given regulatory or rate-setting mechanism.

It would certainly be counterproductive for the Board, under its rate-making plan, to direct that utilities periodically undergo a cost of service rebasing and to implicitly deny them, during that year, any protection for Z factors.  They had better hope that an ice storm doesn't occur in their service territory during that year.  That would be simply an accident.

So I don't accept your characterization that the Z factor treatment is not open to THESL as a result of the rate-making mechanism that was used to set its rates, and we'll dispute that.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, you mentioned storms specifically, and I may get back to that.

Would you agree that a company going into a test year is in a different position than a company going into an IRM year in terms of its ability -- or, sorry, its right or -- I am not exactly sure how to characterize it, but going into that year, going into a test year, you have the opportunity to go through your expenses and forecast them and accept the risk up or down on those specific items of risk?

MR. McLORG:  I can agree so far.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  And in an IRM, a company going into an IRM year doesn't have that opportunity, at least certainly not to the same extent.  They accept the mechanical adjustment to their rates?

MR. McLORG:  I agree, yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  So back in 2007 when you applied for rates effective 2008 and 2009, and in that application, 2010, I believe, you had the opportunity to forecast your budgets based on your view of what's going to happen in those test years and accept the risk, up or down, on whether your forecasts were accurate?

MR. McLORG:  I accept your statement with respect to business-as-usual items.

Our evidence, we think, clearly makes the case that the contact voltage Level III emergency was an extraordinary item that qualifies for Z factor treatment on all of the criteria that the Board has set out.  So the relevance of our different position, vis-à-vis another utility that might be having its rates set on an IRM basis, is lost on me.

MR. BUONAGURO:  At the risk of ending my cross-examination with the Panel telling me they are lost - that's just a joke - I think those are the end of my questions.  Thank you.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  Who is next?  Mr. Faye?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye:

MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Panel, my name is Peter Faye, and I am representing Energy Probe in this proceeding.

I have a number of follow-up questions to Mr. Buonaguro's cross-examination.  I think I will start with them, because they may cover many of the areas I was going to cover, anyway.

I think the first thing we might benefit from is if Mr. LaPianta could describe what this scanning consists of, what it senses, how it does that, just so we have a general idea of what goes on in the scanning thing.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Essentially the scan involves a small commercial vehicle, a pickup truck.  It is outfitted with a sensing device in the rear of the truck, coupled with a video camera.

So inside the truck itself is actually an LCD screen, and the truck proceeds up the boulevard.  It is able to sense -- again, excuse me.  It is able to sense -- and, again, it is difficult obtaining specific technical information from the vendors, because the technology they claim to be proprietary and, therefore, they don't disclose a heck of a lot.

But, essentially, it detects an electromagnetic wave, I think up to a distance of 30 metres on both sides perpendicular to the vehicle and superimposes that on a screen.  What you are seeing on the screen is essentially a video of the boulevard as the truck is moving, and then it superimposes a wave on that screen.

The technician in the truck has been trained to interpret that wave, and it tells him when there is a presence of contact voltage above one volt.  So it is sensitive down to about a volt.

When they detect that, it is actually projected on a screen in time and space, and they're able actually to physically within a couple of meters detect where the contact voltage failure actually is, where the contact voltage is emanating from.  The vehicle stops.  They get out.  They put a volt meter on the item that the screen shows that has been energized.  They confirm the contact voltage.  And then they wait for one of our trucks to be dispatched to either make the area safe or to isolate the cause.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So if I understand that right, the initial electromagnetic signature is a background signature.  It is there from equipment that is operating; right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  The way -- I asked the very same question.  This, in some form, filters out the background radiation.  What they actually are detecting is a leakage, is an actual leakage from the system neutral.

MR. FAYE:  A leakage from the system neutral on to --

MR. LaPIANTA:  On to apparatus.

MR. FAYE:  Awnings, what have you.  Okay.  That is very helpful.  Thank you.

Now, you mentioned that this will detect down to one volt --

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.

MR. FAYE: -- contact voltage.  And you also mentioned that when they find an instance like this, they stop the truck, they go and confirm their diagnosis from the scanner, and then they stand by until one of your crews arrives to remediate.

Were they given any instructions that, if it is five volts or less, you don't have to stand by?

MR. LaPIANTA:  We are in the process of dialoguing with other jurisdictions.  There is a lot of debate about what is the minimum threshold of voltage that in fact causes an imminent danger to public, or pets for that matter.

I know other jurisdictions have landed -- I know the CEA Standard, for instance, they have landed somewhere around I believe it is around ten volts but I believe other jurisdictions have gone down as low as five.  We have made a conscious decision to increase that level of safety and we are going to be proceeding to remediate anything that we find in excess of five volts or more.

But that is just through experience from what the likes of Con Ed have seen, Baltimore is experiencing the same thing right now, so is Boston.  And in general we are landing somewhere around five volts as an incremental level of buffer, if you will, from the ten volts which is required by the Code.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  It sounds to me like there is a considerable amount of standby time involved in these costs.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Let me go back, then, to explain it a little bit further.

What we have done is we have actually outfitted the truck, when it is going down the street, with lower cost resources to in fact allow the truck to continue once the contact voltage has been found.  So the truck doesn't sit there and wait for our trouble truck to be dispatched from head office.

There is somebody that follows them around, they are already on shift.  Our night crews are already patrolling the city as it is.  So they're already at work.

They follow this truck around and once the contact voltage is found, the contractor does his job by identifying the apparatus then they leave.  That truck then remains, tries to determine if, in fact, they can fix it.  If they can’t, they will either cut it free or if they are able to determine what the cause is, they will call in a reactive construction crew to actually fix the problem if they can't fix it themselves.  So the truck is not static.  This is consistent with what we found the likes of Con Ed does.

As you can imagine, Con Ed, I don't know how much -- you are familiar with what goes on in New York State, but they scan the city and the -- Manhattan and five boroughs once a month.  To the extent that they have had to enter into contracts with the limo companies and cab companies to, in fact, respond to a contact voltage situation and stand by, in lieu of a utility truck being there on the spot, to allow the scanning truck to continue its process.

So we keep the scanning truck moving to maximize efficiencies.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, that's good.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Faye if I may.

Mr. LaPianta, how many trucks were involved?

MR. LaPIANTA:  During the contact Level III emergency, we maxed at six trucks.  We had six trucks come in from essentially from New York and Boston.

MR. VLAHOS:  How many people would be involved with the six trucks?  Other than your company's personnel.

MR. LaPIANTA:  The truck itself essentially -- the contractor itself actually has one employee on the truck.  Our subsequent support is a combination of field service employees or our trouble truck.

MR. VLAHOS:  You're talking about six trucks.  Six people?

MR. LaPIANTA:  During the emergency Level III.

MR. VLAHOS:  During the emergency.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Now we are only using three trucks because, again, we think we have mitigated the original emergency sufficiently to only warrant the three trucks.

MR. VLAHOS:  So the cost of that, the costs, I guess, whether it is emergency or otherwise would be the costs of that truck, plus the costs of the people, plus I guess the use of the technology; right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Absolutely.

MR. VLAHOS:  And that is the four-something million dollars per year on a going-forward basis?

MR. LaPIANTA:  That's correct.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. FAYE:  Just to continue on that same theme a little bit.

What it is scanning is everything in the boulevard:  High voltage, low voltage?

MR. LaPIANTA:  To the best of my understanding it is indiscriminate.  It does not distinguish between different asset owners.  It is a geographical scan, if you will, to the extent that the camera and the technology is able to interpret the electromagnetic information that it is sensing.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  But if I understood your evidence properly, the contact voltage problems that you experienced were all on secondary assets.  There were no primary assets involved.  Is that right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Absolutely.  We did not find any primary voltage, not that I am aware of, thankfully.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well with that understanding, I would like to come back to our IR number 2, because I had Mr. Buonaguro's understanding of your response there, that the word "cause" meant "cause."  It didn't mean that this is where we found the contact voltage.

So I would just like to clarify that a little bit.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Exhibit J?

MR. FAYE:  Yes.  This would be J2.

MR. LaPIANTA:  J2.

MR. FAYE:  Schedule 2.  So we asked how many of the contact voltage problems were caused by THESL equipment.  And if I understood your response to Mr. Buonaguro correctly, you answered us that a total of 21 percent of the condition tact voltage problems and on THESL equipment.  Not necessarily caused by THESL equipment.  Is that right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Correct.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  What kinds of THESL equipment did it appear on?

MR. LaPIANTA:  In some situations, we found that, in fact, THESL has its own handwell system.  Our own handwells that are not specifically or exclusively THESI.  Contact voltage was funds on those handwells.

Contact voltage was found in some of the bypass frames or apparatus in a transformer vault.  So the transformer is located in a vault.  There is a secondary interface a secondary bus.  Leakage was funds on that bus and it was propagating down the secondary mains.
Those are a couple that come to mind.

MR. FAYE:  So in the case of it being in your vault, this is not something that is ordinarily accessible to pedestrians or workers unless they have a key to get into it; is that right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  That's correct.  If it was our vault, it is only accessible by us.

MR. FAYE:  So any contact voltage within the vault was not a public hazard.

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.

MR. FAYE:  Any contact voltage that resulted from some fault in the vault and then appeared downstream, that is a potential hazard.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.  Let me just add, that the source of the contact voltage in some cases was found to be in the vault, in the THESL vault at the secondary bus but in fact was propagating downstream and energizing other apparatus downstream like handwells like streetlight hand holds.

MR. FAYE:  If I understand this process or this phenomena, the problem is that the covering for your handwells, for handholes and streetlight poles for other things, they're metallic, they're conducting surfaces.

If they weren't conducting surfaces, would this still be a problem?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, yes.  It is not that simple.  I agree with you that the metallic cover is a problem, something that we are looking at actively now to replace with non-metallic housing, but the nature of the original standard was built such that the handwell itself was actually a cast iron ring.

Set cast iron ring, the metal plate fits inside the cast iron ring.  So in some cases, we found that the degradation of the conductors was actually making contact with the iron handwell itself, and livening up the actual rim, not the lid.

So if I accept your premise that replacing the lid would eliminate the problem, I would have to disagree, because the contact was not always with the lid.  In a lot of cases, it was actually with the wall of the handwell in contact with the ring, which is accessible at grade was the problem.

MR. FAYE:  So the ring that is accessible at grade is not completely covered by some sort of a plate.

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.  The plate is actually recessed within the handwell.  As a matter of fact the dog that perished at Annette, it was that style of handwell.  The actual ring had become energized.

MR. FAYE:  Now, the process of incurring some sort of an injury from this contact voltage, can you describe what happens, how contact voltage does result in an injury?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, essentially, the apparatus becomes energized.  In many -- the vast majority of the situations, the nature of the apparatus is such that there isn't sufficient protection or fusing to be able to cause the energization -- to remove the energization.  So that piece of apparatus essentially remains there energized.

If somebody is walking along the boulevard, steps on the handwell -- let's assume the handwell lid is energized.  If they step on the handwell lid, and then proceed to step a half metre away, so one foot on the handwell, one foot on the concrete - it is the middle of January, the boulevard is covered in salt, it is wet - they create what is essentially a voltage drop across their two feet and they sustain a shock.

We have had situations where -- we know of situations.  We had one situation where actually a woman leaned up against a -- I believe it was a crosswalk pole sustaining the overhead crosswalk, and the pole was actually energized, and when she went to push the button to energize the -- to start the lights for flashing for the crosswalk, she received a shock.

So it is the completion of that path to ground by a human or by a pet causes the shock.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So if I understand you right, there has to be two points of contact.  It's not going to occur if you are standing on the handwell?  It won't occur if you touch something --

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.  If you have your feet closely together, no.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  In response to another of Mr. Buonaguro's questions, I think you said that the streetlight poles are owned by THESL.  Did I get that right, or is that wrong?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.  I think that must have been a misunderstanding.  No.  The streetlight poles are owned by THESI.

MR. FAYE:  THESI.  Now, do you have streetlight poles on normal distribution poles?

MR. LaPIANTA:  We have streetlights on what is otherwise Toronto Hydro-owned hydro poles, yes.

MR. FAYE:  In that case, THESL owns the pole; right?  And does THESI own the arm and the luminaire?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Then there is these other poles that are entirely THESI-owned, because there is no distribution plant on them?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Correct.  They're exclusive streetlighting.

MR. FAYE:  Now, another area that I am uncertain of is these other customers connected to the system.  Are they connected on the streetlight cable itself, or are they connected on a dedicated cable that eventually makes its way back to your vault?

MR. LaPIANTA:  The streetlight infrastructure itself is not intended to be a distributor.

So the answer is, no, they shouldn't be, but I am sure that there are situations throughout the city where unmetered scattered load has been connected inappropriately to the streetlighting secondary bus.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I think in one of our other IRs you mentioned that only THESL, THESI, and qualified contractors were allowed to access those handholes and make connections; is that right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  In theory, that's correct.

MR. FAYE:  So what happens in practice?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, the handwell itself is -- over the years, has become accessible by pretty much anybody that has a penta-head socket, and that is one of the issues in controlling access to these vaults.

So on a moving forward basis, we are doing a lot of work in trying to come up with what is otherwise going to be a proprietary method of getting into the handwell available only to Toronto Hydro or to THESI.

MR. FAYE:  So I think you are saying that others, unbeknownst to THESL, can go in and make connections to your distribution plant without you knowing it and potentially create these kinds of contact voltage problems, but also potentially steal electricity; is that possible?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.  Yes.  I mean, we've had situations where we have actually witnessed connections from -- I am just using the example, but there is others -- but from BIAs, for instance, which have connected to our handwells, not in compliance with the Electrical Safety Code, not in compliance with THESL standards.  It does happen, yes.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  So there's a whole class of these things that are going on that you don't know much about; no one knows much about.

Then there is the class of things that you do know things about, and that is the connections that your own forces have made and presumably the connections that THESI's forces have made, and the connections that your contracted employee or the contractors that you have engaged do work for you, that they have made.  You know about them?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  When they make -- any one of those groups makes a connection in one of those handwells, do they do any kind of a visual inspection to see if there is obvious problems in there?

MR. LaPIANTA:  I can't speak for our THESI resources.  I think logic would dictate, if the handwell is opened and there is a readily visible deficiency, that a diligent employee would correct that, and I am confident that they do.

THESL has very little reason on a regular basis to enter the handwells.  Typically, we interface at the first handwell which supplies power to the streetlighting infrastructure, and subsequently downstream at the last handwell.

We don't have, in practice - have never had - a regular maintenance program for the handwell itself.  Being a secondary voltage, very low risk up until the findings of what has transpired over the past six, eight months, there was never really any maintenance programs that addressed the inspection of handwells.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So back to the scanning.  I understand now how it works.  And during the period of your emergency, these six trucks, at their peak, roamed around the whole city?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  And checked all of the boulevards for contact voltage?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  And of those, they are the 21, 25 and 54 percent that you responded to in our IR 2, but do they include the 1,454 incidents of things remediated?  Is that included in these percentages, or is this a separate -


MR. LaPIANTA:  Can you tell me where you are getting that 1,454?

MR. FAYE:  I think one of Mr. Buonaguro's enquiries, he mentioned there was 15,500 some --

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes, 1,454.  Again, that is -- so I am referring to Exhibit J, IR 4(b).  That 1,454 is -- during inspections, there were deficiencies found in the handwell.

What this refers to here in Exhibit J, IR 2, that 21, 52, 54 is the breakdown, essentially, of what the scanning contractor found.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So these aren't the same things?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.

MR. FAYE:  So of the stuff that the scanning contractor found, can you put a number on that, how many things they found?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes, we have that.

MR. FAYE:  What is that?

MR. LaPIANTA:  I don't have it readily available, but I can certainly come back with that.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Could we have an undertaking to provide that?

MR. MILLAR:  J1.5.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO PROVIDE NUMBER OF DEFICIENCIES SCANNING CONTRACTOR FOUND.

MR. FAYE:  Now, still on this subject of scanning, you said that they scanned, they identified.  They get out the voltmeter, confirm, and then a THESL crew arrives to do something about it.

And if it is THESL equipment, they try to make repairs.  If it is not owned by THESL, I think you said they disconnect it, or, if it can't be disconnected, you put a barrier around it.

So, please, in the case of an Enbridge Gas meter, describe what you would do when you find contact voltage on an Enbridge Gas meter?

MR. LaPIANTA:  In the particular situation - and I think the instance was actually on Dundas Street - we essentially made it safe and called Enbridge, made it safe by erecting a barrier.  The gas meter itself was actually on the boulevard, had the iron bollard in front of it to protect vehicles from hitting it.  We essentially put some cones around it, some tape, and waited for Enbridge to show up.

Situations where we can't disconnect, traffic lights are a perfect example.  There were many situations, in fact, where the signalized intersections were in fact -- you know, some were sitting at a considerable voltage.  You can't disconnect them, obviously.  You need to have the signals running.

So, again, we would make safe by erecting barriers, and we had an emergency number into the City of Toronto traffic services department in which they would send out their contractor to try and determine what the problem was.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  In the case of a garage door?

MR. LaPIANTA:  The garage door, one specific instance, we woke the residents up at 3:30 in the morning.

MR. FAYE:  And in the case of a store awning?

MR. LaPIANTA:  We notified the merchant.  Actually, in the case of the residence, we actually opened the garage door and actually unplugged their garage door opener for them.  They basically had no idea what it is we were talking about, maybe because it was 3:30 in the morning.

In the case of the merchant, we essentially erected a barrier and went inside and contacted the property management company that there was an issue with their awning.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  In cases where you could identify, you disconnected?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Absolutely.  We would cut it free.

MR. FAYE:  When you say "cut it free", you went back to the handwell, took off the connectors, made safe the ends and then notified the customer.

MR. LaPIANTA:  If it was readily visible, we -- we weren't up to waste a lot of time because again keep in mind that scanning truck is moving ahead of us.  If we could readily identify where the source of the voltage was coming from, we would cut it and isolate it.  If it was not, we would erect a barrier and contact the asset owner.

MR. FAYE:  It sounds to me like that for most of the incidents where you disconnect or erect a barrier, you must have a record of who that was.  You must have contacted the customer.  You went back to get your barrier equipment sometime later.  So you could put a number on the number of incidents where you disconnected a third party or erected a barrier.  Would that be fair?

MR. LaPIANTA:  I don't believe we gathered it in that detail.  I can tell you what proportion of the scanning was attributable to the other class, i.e., BIAs or third-party asset owners.  I have that much.

I can tell you that the barrier equipment always resided on our truck, on the person following the scanning truck.  So it is not as though they had to go back to the shop.  So it was erect a barrier, contact the owner, and move on.

It was important that we, for due diligence, that we left the site ensuring that someone, we had communicated to somebody that there was a contact voltage situation, and that at the very least there was some sort of barrier to keep the public away.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, I understand that.

So you are saying nobody made any notes about where you left all of this barrier equipment.  It is still out there?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, we don't leave -- no.  I mean, you know, we are doing this now every night.  So thankfully we are not getting a lot of contact voltage instances as we did in the Emergency Level III because it was our first scan.  But the day after, there is a follow-up on what happened, what occurred the night before.  Keep in mind this is happening at night.  Not during the day.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

MR. LaPIANTA:  I wasn't sure if I made that clear.  Scanning is happening at night.  We don't scan during the day for reasons that the secondary streetlighting mains are only energized for the most part in the evening.

MR. FAYE:  Well, that was an interesting comment and I wonder how that is possible.  Is the main not energized all the time but the luminaire just isn't taking any energy?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Again, it depends on what the secondary mains are used for.  If they're exclusive secondary mains that only power the streetlighting, they're typically de-energized during the delay.  The relays will actually energize those mains at night.  If there is unmetered scattered load coming offer the secondary elsewhere, then typically those secondaries are alive during the day.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Coming back to something you said just a few minutes ago, that was when the THESL crew was called to remediate often times it was a crew that was on evening shift and accessible to or available to go and make these kinds of repairs.  Did I get that right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  Now, if they weren't doing anything else, there was no other trouble call or emergency maintenance or maybe even routine maintenance, wouldn't their costs have been in your rates?  You just diverted them, if you will, to take care of some kind of a trouble call problem which is what they're on the road for anyway; right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Again, we have been treating these contact voltage calls as essentially what we term to be a police, fire and ambulance call.  If there is an energization on the boulevard, we determine it to be a police, fire and ambulance call and our trouble truck would respond, and they respond within the metrics set forth by the OEB.

MR. McLORG:  Mr. Faye, if I could add a little bit there.  I think that you will have heard our evidence this morning that the whole Level III contact voltage emergency was unprecedented on our system.  It was unforeseen by us.  It was not included in our 2009 revenue requirement.

So I think, as a consequence of that, all of the activities of individual staff members of THESL and so on, could be characterized as incremental to the extent that they were devoted to the Level III emergency.

If they were doing something else, as I was, for example, I wasn't on the Level III emergency -- the costs that were related to me were in our 2009 revenue requirement and I think you heard me say earlier that we are not asking for any change to that.  If that is a helpful response.

MR. FAYE:  Well, I think it brings up a couple of more questions, that is, if I understand your trouble call procedure and your trouble truck procedure, it is there to respond to trouble calls.  It doesn't have assigned maintenance work normally; is that fair?

MR. LaPIANTA:  There is some other work that our people on shift do when not attending a trouble call.

MR. FAYE:  How much of the shift would that ordinarily occupy?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Again, it depends on what.  During the day, a good portion of the day.  During the evening, a lot less.

MR. FAYE:  You have already testified that you did most of your scanning at night because the street-light system wasn't energized during the day.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Right.  So let me clarify.  During the emergency Level III, the truck was, in fact, followed around by THESI resources.  So we had THESI resources following around the truck during the emergency Level III.  At that time, it was the most effective way to do it.

Now, so post emergency Level III, the continued $2.41 million of scanning costs, the truck now is being followed by THESL resources.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Okay?

MR. FAYE:  That clarifies it.

MR. LaPIANTA:  For the most part, again, it is our trouble crews.

MR. FAYE:  So it wasn't your trouble crews following the scanning van, it was THESI's trouble crews.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  And THESI's costs are nowhere in this application?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Now, you said that -- let me back up one step further and that is, how do you categorize an emergency?  Is Level III emergency a real bad one?  Or is Level I worse?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.  A Level I, essentially we're in a Level I every minute of every day, pretty much.  There is probably power out someplace.  Level II is an incremental level above that.  It is typically either outage of a critical load, extended outage, or a larger magnitude of customers, typically able to be restored within four hours or less up to a maximum of 12 hours.

A Level III is where we believe we cannot restore power effectively within 72 hours.  At which point we exercise our Level III plans and we bring all of our resources in, whoever is available comes in, and then we have a Level IV which is in fact disaster recovery.  So Level III is worse than level II.  Level II is worse than Level I.

MR. FAYE:  It sounds like they're all sort of related to restoration times?

MR. LaPIANTA:  It is.  They're in fact scaled more -- scaleable versions of each other.  So again, depending on the scope and magnitude of the outage, yes.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  So help me understand, then, why this would be a Level III emergency if no one was out of power.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Because the processes that we used, the processes that we would use to mobilize some 1,600 employees in a Level III emergency that arose from a power outage were precisely the same that we did in this particular situation.

There was no rocket science behind trying to mitigate the contact voltage problem, but the difficulties were in logistics.  So how quickly on January 29th, we were faced with trying to mobilize some 1,600 employees, and getting it done in 28 days, with four feet of snow on the boulevard, minus 15 degree temperatures, and a lot of work had to be done in the evenings, but the problems were logistical.  So the processes we used are the same.  We just weren't attending to a power outage.

MR. McLORG:  Of course, Mr. Faye, the underlying motivation for the declaration of a Level III was our concern for public safety.  It didn't relate to an outage, per se.

But that concern was no less motivating for us.

MR. FAYE:  I understand that, Mr. McLorg.  If I may, I will ask a couple of questions that may not be politically correct.

But, you didn't have any public safety incidents, did you?  You didn't have any injuries to the public?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No, we didn’t.  We did not have injuries, but -- so let me be clear.

We had two dog fatalities, one in November, one in January.  And then on the 28th of January, I believe we had five children that received an electrical shock at Gerard and Sumach.  I attended that site that evening, and it wasn't a good feeling the next morning sitting around the table with the rest of the executives deciding what to do.  Because at that point what we were faced with was at some point was going to be an imminent fatality, let's make no bones about it.

Eventually somebody was going to get killed and we had to take immediate action and that is what we did.

MR. FAYE:  On what basis do you conclude that someone was going to get killed?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, there is other jurisdictions that have experienced a fatality, not the least of which is the one that is probably most known is the Jodi Lane situation in Con Ed, in 2006, I believe.  She leaned up against a transformer grate and received a fatal shock.

There has been another fatality, to the best of my knowledge, in Baltimore.  And so there has been a number of fatalities throughout the US.  We have been fortunate it hasn't happened here yet, but...

MR. McLORG:  In addition, this occurred in February, and that's a time when the handwells and the rest of that subterranean equipment tends to be highly vulnerable to flooding by salt water solutions which themselves are highly conductive.

So that period of the year is when the risk is highest.

MR. FAYE:  It is not a risk that has previously materialized, if I understand your evidence.  This is the first time you ever had contact voltage on your system?

MR. LaPIANTA:  We have had -- you could probably count them on one hand.  Since amalgamation, there's been a couple of situations where a member of the public has received a shock.  I think in all cases it was the winter.  But never to the frequency and degree that we have saw starting after Christmas, basically around the two times the dogs were fatally injured.

MR. FAYE:  How many people contacts did you get calls about, then?

MR. LaPIANTA:  You know, we had a lot of calls because of the hypersensitivity in the public at that time.  We had a lot of calls come through the call centre reporting a contact voltage.  We proceeded to investigate it, and only a handful actually came to fruition, I think about half.

Again, I am talking about somewhere in the vicinity of some 50 calls perhaps came through the call centre reporting contact voltage, of which half actually we found something.

MR. FAYE:  You had about 25 incidents where people really got shocked?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, they sensed what they would call a tingle, and we went out there and, sure enough, yes, there was contact voltage on the boulevard; a couple of instances on the bridge in Etobicoke by the Kingsway.  There was a number of situations where that materialized.

But certainly we saw the frequency increasing, and, as the frequency increased, your probability of a serious injury, if not a fatality, considerably would go up.

MR. FAYE:  Would you agree that the likelihood that this just came out of the blue at you isn't very good, that you have had contact voltage on your system probably for the 100 years you have been in business?  It just never got treated this way before?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, I would characterize it -- in the RCM vernacular, I would characterize it as a hidden failure.  I think it is no different than the end-of-life arguments we have been making before the Board to replace our assets.

I think the streetlighting asset base, the underground secondary asset base, is eroding.  It is degrading.  It needs to be replaced.  And this is just symptomatic of an eroding asset base.

Without question, there has been -- I would hazard a guess there has been contact voltage instances throughout the years, but I have been at this now for some 20 years and I am only aware of, since amalgamation -- well, prior to amalgamation none, not in my former utility.

Since amalgamation, I am only aware of the two dogs, the children being the third, notwithstanding the couple that we had calls after that.  But before that, I am only aware of two situations in the last ten years.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Just to be clear, those previous two situations weren't treated as an emergency Level III, were they?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.  They were "one ofs", and they were number of years apart.

MR. FAYE:  So at the end of this scanning during the emergency, you felt that you had identified all of the contact voltage problems that required your immediate attention; is that correct?

MR. LaPIANTA:  We felt, at the end of the emergency Level III, we sufficiently reduced the risk to a point that -- I am not going to use the word "acceptable", but we certainly found all of the hidden failures.  The scanning did its job.  It found the hidden failures.

It alerted us to where contact voltage problems existed that we otherwise wouldn't have known, and we inspected the entire asset base and found an additional some couple of hundred, as I recall, situations where the equipment was defective to the extent that it could have caused a contact voltage situation.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Faye, it is approaching 12:30.  You tell me when there is a natural break into your line of questioning.

MR. FAYE:  Probably in about five minutes, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  That's fine, thank you.

MR. FAYE:  Just to tidy up that area, then.

The two-point-something million ongoing scanning costs, what remains to be scanned if the entire system has been gone over?

MR. LaPIANTA:  It is not about what is remaining to be scanned.  What we found with the contact voltage is that it is a very -- it is a very dynamic -- if is not a phenomenon, but it is very dynamic.  What is there tonight will not be there tomorrow night.  What is there today won't be there tomorrow, and vice versa.

Temperature has an impact.  Weather conditions have an impact.  Precipitation has an impact.  Work on the boulevard we found has an impact.

So it is not about scanning what we otherwise haven't done already.  Things change day by day, if not hour by hour, particularly during the winter months.

And scanning in perpetuity, I think, was the term was used, is right now the best mode of prevention.

MR. FAYE:  I think I can leave it there, Mr. Chair, if you would like to break.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.  Let's break for an hour.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:29 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:30 p.m.
Procedural Matters:


MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.

Okay.  Mr. Faye, I just want to canvas for a minute as to where we stand today, whether we can finish today, or not.  We have to worry about the court reporters, just in case we spill over to tomorrow.

So can you give me an idea as to how long you will be?

MR. FAYE:  I think I will be another half hour.

MR. VALHOS:  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I expect to be about an hour.

MR. VALHOS:  Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  I assuming many of my questions will be gone but at the maximum, half an hour.

MR. VALHOS:  It looks like we will be done today so then we can talk about argument.  Maybe we can know right now.

Mr. Vellone, do you have any use in argument?

MR. VELLONE:  I am just pulling up the procedural order now.  I think it provides for the intervenors to do written argument two weeks from the date, today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  October 22nd, that's correct.

MR. VELLONE:  The applicant would like to request the opportunity to file written argument itself, without changing the time lines that are set forth in the procedural order.  So argument-in-chief, essentially, the opportunity to one week from today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we would have a week to respond to it instead of two weeks.

MR. VELLONE:  Two weeks to respond to the evidence and a week to consider the argument in addition to that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not okay, sorry, that's not okay.

MR. VLAHOS:  Just give me a second.  Just let me turn to the procedural order.

So October 22nd, then November 5th for reply argument and are you suggesting that somewhere between October 22nd, which is, what, two weeks, I guess from today.

MR. VELLONE:  Maybe I should clarify.  After the oral hearing finishes today, October 8th hopefully, the applicant would like the opportunity to submit written argument-in-chief, between October 8th and October 22nd.  We are proposing October 15th.

MR. VALHOS:  So that would leave a week for the intervenors and from what I heard from Mr. Shepherd that may be problematic for them to receive the -- your argument-in-chief and respond to it.

So --

MR. BUONAGURO:  If I may, one possibly complicating factor.  I don't know how many undertakings there are going to be and how long it will take for the company to respond to them, but they will have to address that too.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  Well, it appears to me that if you are going to file argument-in-chief, written, then we will just have to postpone those dates, move them to a later time.

I guess the challenge will be, there that I understand you're looking for a decision prior to December 31st.

MR. VELLONE:  Can I confer with my client on that and we will address it --

MR. VLAHOS:  While you are doing that, consider the option of oral argument-in-chief sometime this afternoon, we will give you the proper break, two three hours, whatever you need, and the rest of the people don't need to be here if they don't want to be here.  I will be here.  So that is -- consider that option, as well.  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.

MR. VALHOS:  You can let us know, I guess at the break.  Otherwise, otherwise, is one-week time after October 22nd for parties acceptable, subject to Mr. Buonaguro's concern?  This all assumes that the undertakings will be responded to pretty quickly, definitely before the argument-in-chief.
Mr. Faye.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Faye (continued):

MR. FAYE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Before the lunch break, panel, we were discussing the cost recovery in the context of our IR number 2 and that was the one that, that is J2.2.  I think I asked you at one point to quantify the number of contact voltage problems identified purely through the scanning and I think we got off on a tangent and I never came back.  I am not sure I got an answer to that question.

So that is:  How many contact voltage problems were identified solely by the scanning?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Subject to check, it was somewhere in the vicinity I believe just shy of 1,500.

MR. FAYE:  And is my memory correct that the 1,454 is a different set of contact voltages that were identified by your inspection --

MR. LaPIANTA:  That's right.  Those were deficiencies that were detected during the remediation, which may invariably have led to a contact voltage situation at some point.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Now, for the ongoing scanning that is still happening, how many contact voltage problems are being identified in the ongoing scanner?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Mr. Faye, I don't have that information readily available.  It is -- it is significantly lower than what we experienced during the Level III, but keep in mind there is a number of factors that affect that not the least of which this is a very dry time of the year.  The ground water is not what it is going to be in the months to come.  And therefore, a lot of the contact voltage situations that may exist come the fall and winter months are certainly not present now, but we do have that information, what we have detected since starting the second contract.

MR. FAYE:  So most of these problems occur when your vaults or your submersible pits fill with water, and possibly get salty water in there it become electrically conductive.

MR. LaPIANTA:  It increases the conductivity of the surrounding -- of the insulating material which in the end is not doing its job.  Yes, we are finding -- we expected fully during the summer months this would not be as much of an issue as it would be once the snow and the rains come.  Consequently, that is reflected in our scanning because we have gone to a reduced number of scanning trucks during the summer months and are ramping up accordingly during the winter months.

But, yes, the answer is yes.  Ground water, temperature, the salt that is put on the boulevards by the Ministry of Transportation for obvious reasons is all contributing to this.

MR. FAYE:  So if I understand you right, the effort for scanning will intensify during the months of the year when you are most likely to find problems.

MR. LaPIANTA:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  And I wonder, if you are not likely to find many problems in the other months of the year, why spent money?  Is it a contractual thing you have to keep these guys going year-round?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No, no the actual contract is set up in a way that is based on the number of resources i.e., the trucks that we have scanning the city.  For example we scan the, during the summer months we use one truck to scan the underground infrastructure predominantly.  We scan the overhead infrastructure only -- less frequently.  And starting September the 1st or I believe it is the first week in September, we ramp up to include, to go to three trucks and we scan, we focus more directly on the underground infrastructure, less on the overhead, but the entire city is scanned nonetheless.

MR. FAYE:  That is a new subject you have just opened there.  The overhead infrastructure.  Do I take that to mean both primary and secondary infrastructure?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, we scan the boulevard.  What we did during the emergency Level III was we tried -- because we knew the problems were essentially emanating from the underground infrastructure, we scanned those portions of the city that were predominantly underground infrastructure.  We eventually scanned the entire city because we did find contact voltages in areas where there was overhead plant, for instance, there were situations where the secondary bus was coming in contact with a down guy.

The secondary bus had somehow, was leaking to the steel messenger and then energizing a down guy.  We found a number of those.

But the vast majority of the problems were found in the underground infrastructure and that is where we scanned but we did do the whole city.

MR. FAYE:  Does Toronto Hydro have any plans to find a technical solution such as a protection system that would isolate components that were leaking?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Absolutely.  I mean, part of the steps moving forward -- in fact, investment that is scheduled for next year that we may eventually talk about in our 2010 rate application, is -- looks at those types of things.  It is a completely revamped standard for the handwell infrastructure itself.  It does look at the issue of protection, both on the secondary mains and perhaps on a load-by-load basis, if that is feasible.

We are trying to cover all of those situations, so that in 40 years from now when this equipment is at its end of life we are not in the same situation.

MR. FAYE:  Which equipment is that in 40 years, which equipment?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, the equipment we are replacing now, we would like to do it in such a way that perhaps the standards of the past i.e., split bolts are not the standards that should be used in the future.  So we want to look at this now, do it right now, so in 40 years from now we are not revisiting this.  And the equipment will have to be replaced at some point, but hopefully contact voltage will not be an issue.

MR. FAYE:  Now, you mentioned that your overall conclusion from the scanning and from your testing is that the reason this is happening is that a lot of this plant is at the end of its useful life and it just has to be replaced.  When you say "a lot", how much of the system is implicated in that end of useful life?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Our discussions -- our discussions, my comments have been strictly limited to what we witnessed with respect to the underground secondary or the secondary system, notwithstanding what we're seeing on our primary infrastructure, and that's been well documented in the last rate filing and in the rate filing that is coming up in 2010 -- sorry, it was on.

So my comments are strictly limited to what we saw in the underground secondary infrastructure.

MR. FAYE:  But the underground secondary infrastructure is the streetlighting system, isn't it?

MR. LaPIANTA:  It includes the streetlighting system.  Don't forget Toronto Hydro itself has its own secondary underground infrastructure which feeds the streetlighting system.

MR. FAYE:  Of course.  So do I hear correctly that the underground distribution system that feeds unmetered scattered load and streetlights is in a dire state of misrepair, and the streetlighting system itself also needs a replacement?

MR. LaPIANTA:  I am not privy to the condition of the streetlighting system itself.  I am an employee of the regulated business, but I think it is fair to say that the underground secondary is very likely, give or take, in the same asset condition as the primary.

It was all installed all around the same time.  It is the same vintage.

MR. FAYE:  The streetlighting conductors would have been installed around the same time, do you think?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Again, it depends.  A lot of streetlighting circuits have been replaced.  The city has decided to go to different streetlighting brackets, different luminaires.  They have changed the cobra heads.  Some of that perhaps could have been replaced.  I don't know.

MR. FAYE:  But the conductor itself, the parts that are leaking --

MR. LaPIANTA:  It is likely the backbone is still the same, sure.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  In fact, Toronto Hydro at one time owned this prior to 1985?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Toronto Hydro, to the best of my knowledge, never actually owned the streetlighting assets.  They managed it on behalf of the city.  I stand corrected, but I am not sure if we ever actually -- if the former City of Toronto ever actually owned them.  I don't know.  I wasn't around then.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I would like to just touch on when Toronto Hydro did either own or manage.  What sort of maintenance activities would ordinarily be carried out on this kind of a system?

MR. LaPIANTA:  To the best of my knowledge - again, speaking from my experience at my previous utility prior to amalgamation - streetlighting maintenance programs were almost exclusively limited to patrolling for spent luminaires, bulbs, and obvious visual defects, faulty relays, cracks in the cobra heads.

To my knowledge, there was never a routine maintenance program for the underground infrastructure, not at the secondary level.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I have a question on one of Mr. Buonaguro's questions, just a follow-up.

I believe it was Mr. McLorg that elaborated on the reason why the capital offset wouldn't be appropriate.  I think I heard him say that because customer connection work has declined, there has been an availability of crews that would have ordinarily worked on that capital work that can now be devoted to the capital program that might have suffered during the emergency.  And that is why you are going to be able to complete the capital program.  Was that -- is that an accurate recollection?

MR. McLORG:  Yes.  Generally, that's correct.

MR. FAYE:  All right.  I also this think I heard Mr. McLorg or yourself say that the reason that this couldn't be considered an offset is that customer connection work is recoverable directly from the customer.  It never formed part of your rate application in the first place.  Is that also correct?

MR. COUILLARD:  Well, the significant portion of the customer connection work triggers what we call a capital contribution.

So the excess that we wouldn't be able to recover through future distribution revenue gets paid to us by way of capital contribution from the customer, based on a formula that is pretty much standard.

MR. FAYE:  But there are some costs that are not recoverable from the customer in customer connection work; is that right?

MR. COUILLARD:  That's correct.

MR. FAYE:  As a percentage, how much would that be?

MR. COUILLARD:  It depends on the nature of the project and the scope of work.  I know that this year we are behind on collecting customer connection work.  I don't really have a number readily available for you, Mr. Faye.

MR. FAYE:  The customer connection work that you have referred to, is that residential?  Is it commercial?  Is it a mix of the two?  Is it industrial?  Can you tell me where the preponderance of that work is that got cancelled?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Again, subject to check, I would suggest that it is probably more skewed towards the commercial, if not also some industrial, but certainly the commercial over the residential.  There isn't a heck of a lot of new residential going on in the City of Toronto right now.

There is some infill, but I think, for the most part, it is commercial.

MR. COUILLARD:  If I may add, Mr. Faye --

MR. LaPIANTA:  Sorry.  It is commercial and/or a large residential infill project.  So it is not - they're not "one ofs", type thing.  It is not a small condominium complex, a low rise.  They're usually either a very large residential project - a factory has come down and they're building 80 units or something like that - or it is definitely in the commercial end.

MR. COUILLARD:  Just in the nature of costs, Mr. Faye was asking, you know, what is the cost of capital contribution that we haven't received this year?  We are currently tracking to be at least $4 million behind on what we were expecting to be capital contribution from customers on those projects.

MR. FAYE:  I think I might have misstated that question.  What I was looking for was:  Of the 100 percent of connection costs on any given project, how much of it is given away, for instance?

You have -- for residential customers, you must have an overhead allowance, a transformer allowance?

MR. COUILLARD:  It really depends on the projects, because they're all, like, evaluated individually and run through a model, depending on the size of the connection, the expected load from the customers.  In some instances, for example, the customer have to post securities with us, because we are not sure about the amount of load that we're going to use, and so there is -- like, it is very difficult, because those projects tend to be like large one-off projects.

It is very difficult to do -- like, generally, it should be, like, 40, 60, 70, 80 percent.  I really can't answer that question.

MR. FAYE:  You can't put any guesstimate on it at all?

MR. COUILLARD:  I would usually restrain from trying to guesstimate some of those numbers.

MR. FAYE:  Would you say it is closer to 10 percent or 90 percent?

MR. COUILLARD:  Oh, it would be closer to the upper end.

MR. FAYE:  The recoverable portion is closer to the upper end, or the part that Toronto Hydro finances through its rates is closer to the upper end.

MR. COUILLARD:  The contribution.

MR. FAYE:  The contribution is closer to the upper end, all right.

When you talked about connection costs, were you also including in that upstream work on your distribution system necessary to make that connection, the so-called expansion?

MR. McLORG:  Well, Mr. Faye, that is an element of the economic evaluation that is performed for each project.

You may be aware that the Board has recently changed its direction to utilities with respect to enhancement costs.  And enhancement costs that were formerly figured into the economic evaluation model by way of a rate per kilowatt of load are now to be assumed by the utility.

So there would be a little bit of a change of regime there.  Of course, that means that the utility will finance more of the overall system investment through rate base than through capital contribution.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Did that new regime apply in the 2007 rate case that resulted in your 2009 rates?

MR. McLORG:  No, it did not.  It is a recent development.

MR. FAYE:  We're talking about the old regime in which you calculated the expansion costs and net present value by way of the model?

MR. McLORG:  Right.

MR. FAYE:  And to take an example, a project that, for instance, was going to cost $100,000, if you felt, by your model conclusions, that you were going to recover all of that in your rates, that -- because of the consumption of those customers over the years, you wouldn't get a capital contribution; right?

MR. McLORG:  That's correct.  If the project were load-rich and the projected revenue from the project were sufficient to cover the costs of the -- the investment requirement on a present value basis, then a capital contribution would not be required.

I am not sure that we want to get into this in detail because I think you may recognize -- or perhaps you won't agree with me -- that the thrust of our comment originally was, essentially, that because of the decline in economic activity throughout the world and, in particular, in our service area, there were some resources that, labour resources and physical resources like trucks and so on, that became available to do some of the work that we missed doing in February.

We weren't making any particular comments or claims about the proportion of the customer connection work that was covered by capital contribution or otherwise.

MR. FAYE:  No, no.  I think the thrust of that questioning by Mr. Buonaguro, if I understood it right, was that you forecast in your 2007 rate application how much capital work you were going to be putting in rate base.

MR. McLORG:  Yes.

MR. FAYE:  And you structured your rates accordingly.

MR. McLORG:  Yes.  If I can recall that conversation - and I think Mr. Vlahos characterized it properly - Mr. Buonaguro was correct in saying that from a revenue requirement perspective, work that is transferred from a capitalized component to an expensed component has the effect of increasing the current revenue requirement, and in future, of course, the revenue requirement would be relatively lower than otherwise.

But in comparing actual to approved or forecast, Mr. Buonaguro was also correct in saying that on a forecast basis, our rates would have been set to -- assuming a certain level of capital expenditure that, in his hypothetical, wasn't going to materialize.

Well of course we don't accept the hypothetical.  We are saying the forecast level of capital expenditure that was approved and underpinned rates for 2009 is going to materialize.

MR. FAYE:  But this work that we have just been talking about, customer connection work, upstream expansion, upgrade work to accommodate those new customers, isn't that capital work?

MR. McLORG:  Well, it is, and I think you may recall me saying earlier that in any given year, actual versus approved, there is going to be changes in the mix of capital investment.

Because we can't forecast that with 100 percent accuracy.  But the kind of mix change that is involved in 2009 -- apart from the Level III experience that we had -- is quite regular, in our experience.  There hasn't been anything distinctive about it.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Well maybe I can simplify that whole issue by asking you this:  What is your forecast expenditure in capital and in OM&A to the end of 2009 compared to your 2007 rate case?

MR. McLORG:  So that is essentially the question of bridge versus approved, if I could use that terminology.

That is, we have an estimate of 2009 costs and expenditures and so on.  It is not an actual yet, of course.  But we have those kind of numbers, and we also know what was approved by the Board.

Mr. Couillard?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  So excluding the costs that we're asking for recovery here, so if we were to make the assumption that these costs, the Board would grant us recovery of those costs, we are forecasting right now to be pretty much in line with the budget that we had for –- sorry, the rates that were approved for 2009 which is opening expense of approximately $195 million and capital expenditures of around $240 million.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  Then one final question.

If that turns out at the end of 2009 not to be the case, if you underspend those brackets, would you agree that the Board might want to claw back anything that they give you here?  Should they agree and give you anything.

MR. COUILLARD:  No, I do not agree.  I think we would have to look at the overall.  I mean there are some areas where we're bearing the risk.  Mr. Faye, I think it is no secret that most utilities are experiencing some significant shortfall in load this year.

You know, if your reasoning was, if I go down the path of what you are laying in here, you know, should we be allowed to go and make a claim because the economy is down and load is down by about 4 percent so far this year, and forecasting could be as low as 5 percent.  We believe that the amount that we have approved in our rates, that for all of the elements that are within our control, we are going to be able to deliver what is expected and we are not asking for recovery for anything that is -- we don't characterize as outside of our control.

MR. McLORG:  You may recall, Mr. Faye, that I mentioned earlier that we do not regard this application as being a reopening of the 2009 general rate case.

MR. FAYE:  No, I'm simply sort of laying the groundwork for an argument that the utility will come in when it wants more money on the Z factor, but I don't think we would ever see one come in and say, We made too much.  We are going to give it back.  So we want an order saying we want a negative rate rider.  I don't anticipate seeing that kind of an application.  I wonder why wouldn't that converse logic apply?

MR. McLORG:  Well, I think the Board has been diligent in providing safeguards to ensure that if there is an unforecast change, for example, in tax parameters that had been built into assumptions that underpinned the setting of rates, that after-the-fact changes initially in favour of the utility, that that is properly tracked and then refunded to ratepayers.

So the Board has safeguards for that kind of thing.  But generally speaking all of the things that are at risk for the shareholder in a given year remain at risk.

And we are saying that it's proper and feasible to draw a line around the costs that were involved with contact voltage remediation and treat those incrementally.  And as Mr. Couillard just reiterated, we aren't seeking any other retroactive adjustments to our approved 2009 rate base.

So I hate to belabour this, but I will just end by saying that, there is a proper nexus for consideration by the Board on the question of:  What costs, if any, were displaced by the Level III emergency?  Our evidence is that there were none.  But if there were some, we believe it would be proper for the Board to take that into account

But generally speaking, all of the other things that are plus and minus are outside of the scope of this application, in our opinion.

MR. FAYE:  Okay.  I will leave that for argument and I have one more brief area.

You have mentioned that a couple of the US utilities have also had some problems with contact voltage.  Have any Canadian utilities experienced this problem and, if so, what are they doing about it?

MR. LaPIANTA:  I am not aware of any Canadian utilities that have experienced the contact voltage problem to the frequency or degree that we experienced last February.  That is not to say that it doesn't exist and because they're not scanning they don't know it is there.  Again, we talked about the -- this is really we're really talking about hidden failures here that aren't really -- that aren't recognized until somebody makes contact.

I do know that as recently as the weekend, a dog was shocked, again, and -- I believe the owner in Unionville.  I know I have had calls from Guelph, I have had calls from London, all of which have detected some elements of contact voltage.  They haven't had the situation where a dog has been fatally injured or a human has had contact.

But clearly there is an increase in education and awareness by the utilities that this is a widespread phenomenon -- not a phenomenon, but a condition of the asset that is causing this problem.

Also I am not aware of anyone else in Canada who has taken on the scanning.  I know that in the US jurisdictions, they have been a little bit more aggressive there.  The Power Services Commission of the State of New York has mandated scanning there.  As a matter of fact, they need to scan the entire city of Manhattan and the five boroughs within 48 hours of a snow fall.  So they have taken it to another extreme.

I know they're scanning in 12 states in the midwest.  I know they're scanning in Baltimore, they're scanning in Boston.  They have even begun to scan as far south as Florida Light & Power, particularly in the summer months when the rains come.

MR. FAYE:  Is this all being done by this one company?

MR. LaPIANTA:  To the best of my knowledge, again, Power Services Company is the only approved company by the Power Services Commission of the State of New York.  There is only one other company -- I think this goes to the question this morning about our due diligence.  There is only one other company that we know of which, I don't need to mention here, but they have not been approved, have tried on a number of occasions to be approved by a number of regulatory bodies in the US and have not been successful.  So to the best of our knowledge, there is only this one vendor right now.

Moreover, there is intellectual property proceedings, if you will, against the only other potential vendor of this technology.  So we were not about to actually entertain going down that path with someone was not approved, who didn't have the experience or background as the company we entertained.

MR. FAYE:  Okay, thank you.  Those are all of my questions.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Faye.  Mr. Shepherd.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  I was not going to start with incrementality, but I can't resist.  Mr. Couillard, you said that what you expect to spend this year is pretty much in line with Board-approved.  At least that's what I wrote in my notes, anyway, just a second ago.

But it is true, isn't it, that your Board-approved operations budget for 2009 is 59.2 million and for maintenance is 48.8, a total of 108 million; isn't that right?  I am reading this from your 2010 application.

MR. COUILLARD:  I don't have --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you accept those numbers, subject to check?

MR. COUILLARD:  Subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It is true, isn't it, that your current forecast for those two operations and maintenance for 2009 is 51.5 million for operations and 44.5 million for maintenance, a total of 96 million, or 12 million less than your Board-approved; isn't that right?

MR. COUILLARD:  I would have to go back to the number, Mr. Shepherd.  I don't have the 2010 application handy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

Assuming that is correct -- because I am reading it from your application, assuming that is correct and you are going to -- you are planning to spend 12 million less, doesn't that cover most of this cost already?

MR. COUILLARD:  Once again, I don't have the basis for those numbers, Mr. Shepherd.  They're filed with another proceeding.  I am not ready to answer that question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me put this a different way.  Let's make it a hypothetical, that you have a Board-approved budget for those two categories of $108 million and you currently expect to spend 96 million, so you have 12 million left.  Couldn't you be spending that 12 million on this problem?

MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Shepherd, I think there is other areas that costs could have been included in, and, so, once again, because I don't have this, I am not ready to make any hypothetical discussion here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you said that the amount you expect to spend in total is about the same; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  We expect to spend what was approved for our 2009 rates.  We expect to spend about the same amount for capital and operating, and -- like, on an overall basis, and, on the capital side, less the amount that we had for our new facility, which we have not gone -- moved forward for.

Then this amount would have actually been included in our CWIP account.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Interesting you say that, because your rate base additions approved for 2009 by the Board were $231.5 million, and your current application says that for 2009 you expect to actually have $234.8 million.

So you actually expect to put more into rate base this year than you have Board approved; isn't that right?

MR. COUILLARD:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, when we look at the last time we had our rates approved, which was for 2008 and 2009, if we look at those two years together, the total rate base at the end of 2009 is fairly similar to what was approved by the Board.

I don't have the number with me, but we have done the calculation and it is really close.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this notion that you had that these employees that were using -- you were using for this remediation work would otherwise have been capital, that's not correct, is it?

MR. COUILLARD:  I think I premised my comment earlier to say that we would achieve those numbers if we were going to get -- if the Board was to grant us approval for all of these costs.

If we don't get approval from the Board, then we will be over on all of these costs, like, if this doesn't come true.  Like, the number I am quoting here, let's say operating expense of approximately $195 million, would be assuming that the $14.3 million we're asking for would be granted by the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's exactly right, isn't it?  And the reason for that is because your administrative and general budget is $13 million over what was expected, 40 percent over your Board approved; isn't that right?

MR. COUILLARD:  No, that is not correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am reading the number here, 33.8 million, 46.8 million.

MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Shepherd, you are throwing at me some numbers that I'm -- I am not going to get into an argument with those numbers, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is your application.

MR. VELLONE:  Can we just limit our questions to the evidence that is before the panel at the time?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  Actually, we can limit our questions -- through you, Mr. Chair, we can limit our questions, I believe, to things that are relevant to this application.  If, in fact, what is happening here is that you have blown out $13 million on your A&G budget and you are trying to pick it up through remediation costs, then this Board should know that.

MR. McLORG:  That is an untested assertion on your part.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is why I am cross-examining.

MR. McLORG:  Exactly.

MR. VLAHOS:  Just a moment.  One second.  I understand, Mr. McLorg, that the test that you are inviting the Board to look at is:  What costs were displaced?

MR. McLORG:  That's right.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay.  But the intervenors say, Well, okay, that is one of the tests that we are invited to look at, the issue, the situation.  But the test that they are going to look at is:  If the company were to spend a little less than it was originally thought, should the company recover those costs they are seeking, the $14.5 million?

So you don't agree with that test, but isn't that a matter of argument?

MR. McLORG:  Well, sir, I think that we have stated fairly clearly on the record that we do believe that costs that are directly consequential to the Level III incident, including costs that were directly avoided as a result of that, are properly the subject of this hearing.

It is, of course, up to the Panel and the Board to make its judgment about whether or not the hearing of this contact voltage cost recovery application, in effect, reopens 2009 and makes 2009 a historical test year for us in which costs and revenues experienced after the fact become the subject of cross-examination.

As we have indicated earlier, had we any concept that such a thing was going to be undertaken by the intervenors, then we -- which we would not support, but in the hypothetical, we would be coming in here with revised evidence as to our load forecast and our cost overruns in areas where we experienced higher costs.  So it is pure cherry picking.

MR. VLAHOS:  It is not -- in my view, it's not a question of reopening, and I would not really allow, that to reopen all of the individual components that have led to the revenue requirement for the test year.  But there is some questions by the intervenors as to:  Is the company going to overearn for 2009?  And, if that is the case, then should it be in addition to this that they should be recovering those Z factor costs?

That is how I take some of the questions from the intervenors.

MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Chair, if I may comment, the company is going to be far from overearning this year.  We are planning right now to be very close to what our operating expense -- I am not sure where Mr. Shepherd gets his number, and I would like to have the time to review them.

But, you know, we are planning to be in line with our approved budget for operating, in line with our approved budget for capital, and we are about $20 million short on distribution revenue because of weather and because of the economy right now.

So to make the conclusion that we are likely to overearn, I can state here today that we are not going to overearn this year.

MR. VLAHOS:  In the same vein, if it is not a question of overearning, then do you think it is legitimate for the intervenors to pursue the question of to what extent the costs that may be materializing by the end of 2009 is a legitimate issue for the intervenors to pursue, if it is going to be way below or somewhat below what has been reflected in current rates.

MR. COUILLARD:  Well, Mr. Chair, far from me the idea of suggesting to take an undertaking myself, but we could provide information that would show where we are expecting the overall rate base to be at the end of 2009.

We are nine months into 2009.  That would have to be done through confidentiality, obviously, as a public issuer.  We are in a quiet period until we issue our third quarter financial statements.

We would be happy to also present what is our forecast.  But I can actually reconcile the forecast that's been prepared for the 2010 EDR, but I think it would be unfair for me to ask -- to get those questions here at this moment.

MR. VLAHOS:  Mr. Couillard, that is fine.  I am not going to ask you for any undertakings.  I am just trying to understand the boundaries in which you see the framing of the application.

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  In some situation where the intervenors are asking some questions, you tend to sort of block those things.  Well, it is not part of the application.  I am trying to explore with you as to there maybe some legitimate concerns.

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  It is all -- it all has to be argued at the end of the day.

MR. COUILLARD:  I respectfully understand your point, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Did I confuse things, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That was just to give me an opportunity to calm down, was it?

Let me move on to another part of this same question.  And I may get at that discussion you just had.  You quoted to Mr. Buonaguro this letter from the Board Secretary dated March 4th, 2009.  Do you have that in front of you?

MR. McLORG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You quoted the first line of the second-last paragraph and I am going down two other sentences, to where it says:
"Distributors may seek disposition of these accounts in conjunction with rate application filings."


So you didn't do that.  Why didn't do you that?  You were filing an application anyway, why didn't you do what the Board told you to do and apply for it in conjunction with rate application filing?

MR. McLORG:  Mr. Shepherd, I would refer you to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 1 where that question is answered.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What was the answer?

MR. McLORG:  We state in our response:
"THESL has a responsibility to its shareholders, bond holders, and credit-rating agencies to present the best information available concerning its financial results.  The incremental expenditures incurred by THESL to remediate the contact voltage situation are significant with respect to its overall financial results for the fiscal year ending December 31st, 2009, and the Board's decision regarding the regulatory treatment of those costs will be correspondingly significant.  Had THESL not applied separately for recovery of the contact voltage costs, there would be no prospect of a Board decision by the time financial statements for 2009 need to be prepared.  Therefore it was necessary for THESL to apply separately."


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I understand.

It is true that if you had applied with your rate application, we would have this information that we're talking about now; right?

MR. McLORG:  The information as to the actual 2009 costs?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. McLORG:  Well, that still wouldn't be available in the 2010 rate application, because it wouldn't be prepared by that time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am reading it from your rate application right now as we speak.

MR. McLORG:  And that is a six-plus-six, or whatever, estimate.  Not the actual 2009 costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

Let me turn to a second preliminary issue that is confusing me and you asked Mr. -- Mr. Buonaguro asked you questions about it and I am -- still don't understand the answer.

In your application, you say -- you are applying for Z factor-type costs, this is on page 1 of your application.  But I take it you are not applying for a Z factor, because you don't have a legal basis for a Z factor; right?

MR. McLORG:  I don't accept that and I think you are making a distinction without a difference.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then help me out.  What I am trying to understand is what's the basis for the amount you are claiming?  Forget the letter for a minute.  We will come back to the letter in a second.

MR. McLORG:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What's the basis for the claim that you are entitled to some additional recovery?

MR. McLORG:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, it is thoroughly outlined in our prefiled evidence under the heading "Recoverability, eligibility analysis of expenditures incurred."  That starts at page 5 of 11 in our prefiled application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no --

MR. McLORG:  There we go through the criteria --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me stop you for a second.  Because I wasn't asking for whether you meet the tests.  I was asking, where do you get the tests and how do you apply them to yourself?  That is, what is your position or what is the basis on which you say that any of these tests apply to your situation?

MR. VLAHOS:  I am not clear as to the question.  Are you looking for the authority of characterizing this as a Z factor, is that what you are looking for?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  Isn't this the discussion we had earlier with Mr. Buonaguro about what is, under the IRM, is this the same discussion?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is.  What we didn't get in that discussion was a clear answer is, what is the statutory basis on which or the policy basis that is the guideline basis or rule basis under which the application is being made?  I would like to know which set of rules I should be looking at.

MR. McLORG:  Mr. Shepherd, and Mr. Chair, I think that our previous answer stands for itself but let me try to restate.

Toronto Hydro's position is that there is nothing in any of the Board's documents, but most notably the Board's most recent report on third generation IRM, that limits the eligibility of utilities to apply for Z factor costs, as a result of the kind of rate-setting regime that they are under.

And I think it is clearly the case that, for example, were there to be major reductions or any material reductions in tax rates, for example, that apply to utilities such that the PILs allowance approved in rates turned out after the fact as a result of these rate cuts to be too high.  That a utility that happened to be under a cost of service regime for that year would be exempt from having to pay those monies back or credit those moneys back to ratepayers.

So our basic position is, there is nothing that says that we can't come forward with a Z factor application for these kind of costs.

We have met the due diligence in demonstrating how they meet the eligibility criteria, and it would be new law, so to speak, for the Board now to find that companies that have been in a given year under the Board's own direction, for example, to be in a cost of service rate-setting scenario, would be ineligible to recover costs due to, for example, an ice storm.

If a utility is directed to come before the Board once every three or four years under a cost of service framework and the ice storm happens in that year, then on your theory, the utility would go bankrupt, because it couldn't go back to its customers for Z factor recovery.  And we submit that is nonsense.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I actually don't have a theory yet, I am still asking questions.

I guess what it sounds like you're saying, and I am trying to put it into things that my legal mind understands, okay?  That it sounds like you are saying you are allowed to apply for anything, so unless there is a rule that says you can't apply for it, you can.  Is that what you are saying?

MR. McLORG:  We can apply to the Board for matters over which the Board has jurisdiction.  It is then the exercise of the Board's jurisdiction as to whether it will entertain the application, whether the Board feels the application is out of order to begin with.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is just a conventional just and reasonable rates application, but instead of being cost of service or IRM, it is a particular issue of adjustment of your rates?  Is that fair?

MR. McLORG:  I would say it is a special purpose application for focussed -- or recovery of focussed costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, and if you think I am going into argument with this, tell me to stop and I will.  But how would you deal with the question of or the perception that this would appear to be cherry picking?  That you are picking -- as Mr. Faye was alluding to perhaps, that you are picking something, one thing out of your various costs and saying, Well, we want some more money for that.  But not considering any of the other offsetting things that might arise during the year.

MR. McLORG:  In addition to the remarks that we have made previously and which appear in the transcript, let me read to you a couple of excerpts from the Board's third generation IRM report, and I quote there from pages 35 and 37 at which the Board said:
"The Board has determined that the eligibility criteria are sufficient to limit Z factors to events genuinely external to the regulatory regime and beyond the control of management and the Board."


And I would note that it doesn't specify a single or particular regulatory regime.  It just says "the regulatory regime."

And then further, at page 37:
"The Board expects that any application for a Z factor will be accompanied by a clear demonstration that the management of the distributor could not have been able to plan and budget for the event and that the harm caused by the extraordinary events is genuinely incremental to their experience or reasonable expectations."


So on both of those accounts, I would say that the Board has instituted express criteria to ensure that utilities are not able to cherry pick, as you characterized it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so you read a part of that, appendix B of that report, but you didn't read the beginning of appendix B.  The beginning of appendix B says:
"These filing guidelines set out the Board's expectations for applications by distributors for rate adjustments on the basis of the third generation IR mechanism."

So the Z factor in here doesn't apply to you, does it?

MR. McLORG:  No, I don't accept that.  It's a matter for argument, but I do not accept that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  So you are applying under these guidelines, then?

MR. McLORG:  These are the most relevant guidelines and best articulate the test that THESL believes the Board should consider when it is considering this application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I don't mean to belabour this.  I will ask just one more question about it.

What I am trying to nail down is:  Are you applying on the basis of these guidelines as applicable to you or as analogous?

MR. McLORG:  Again, you are making a distinction without a difference.  I don't understand the "applicable to you" versus "analogous" to you.

We say, and we say it very clearly, that these costs meet the criteria for a Z factor -- Z factors and that the Board should consider them within the established Z factor framework.  We are not proposing anything new or novel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, let me ask -- let me go to the second part of this.  The other justification you had for making this application, legal justification, is that the Board told you distributors, quote, "may seek future recovery of the costs of repairs made to customer-owned equipment or connections", right, in the letter?  You quoted that to Mr. Buonaguro; right?

MR. McLORG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

And it is true, isn't it, that what the Board said is the first thing you should do is get the customer to pay for it?  Only after that should you then consider whether you should apply for rate recovery.  Isn't that what the Board said?

MR. McLORG:  Yes, it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So did you go to the City of Toronto and ask them to pay for this?

MR. McLORG:  We had no -- as you would have gathered from our evidence and from our testimony, we had no factual basis upon which to present a detailed itemized bill to the city.

Certainly if it were the case that we found, as an isolated incident, a piece of city-owned equipment that presented an electrical hazard and needed to be repaired, then we would treat the city in exactly the same fashion as we would any other customer through the normal course of business, but, as we have explained I think painstakingly in our application, the Level III emergency, with the public safety hazard that it presented, was not business as usual.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You had some traffic lights.  Who owns the traffic lights?

MR. LaPIANTA:  The City of Toronto.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The city.  Did you talk to them about paying for those ones?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Mr. Shepherd, it is not that clear, and I will give you an example.  Many of the situations that we found where contact voltage existed on the streetlights -- on the traffic lights, for example, resulted in a large debate as to why that contact voltage even existed.

And to be specific, there was a large debate as to the nature of the contact voltage being the result of the THESL system neutral and bonding provisions not doing their job, or was it the traffic light system bonding provisions not doing their job?

And so I think -- there were somewhere in the vicinity of some 56 locations where traffic signal lights at intersections were found to be floating at some voltage.  We were never clearly able to ascertain whether the result of that contact voltage was because of the neutral or the bonding provisions of the city traffic lights, or was it because the THESL infrastructure was not sufficiently grounding that?

So at the end of the day, you know, we bear the costs of that, because we try and analyze the situation, try and find out where that is, and it involves replacing spans of neutral, spans of ground which may not -- may have not been required to be replaced entirely, but, in the end, rectified the situation.

So trying to find stray voltage in an underground system, or an overhead system for that matter, the source of it is very, very, very difficult.

Similarly, with third-party asset owners like BIAs, while their equipment may have been energized, there was large debate as to what the cause of that energization was.  Was it our system that wasn't sufficiently sinking it?  Was it their grounding that wasn't adequate?  It is very difficult to really pinpoint what the cause is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Where I was going with this is:  Did you talk to the biggest customer affected, the City of Toronto, about whether they would contribute to the costs of this problem?

MR. COUILLARD:  We had discussion -- we had discussion with the city, obviously, you know, when this all happened.  Most of the discussions were around safety, I think.  You know, we won't hide the fact that, you know, this thing got a lot of profile, and we had discussion also with the senior official at the city.

On the other hand, we never talked to them about, Should you guys pay directly for those services?

The issue was mainly that we couldn't really prove to them how much was really related to the city versus some of the BIAs versus some of the other organizations.  So for us, the best way to come up with some sort of what we believe is a fair allocation is to go through the normal rate-making purposes, because there is no way you can send to any type of customer an invoice unless you have all the details of how much time was spent, at what areas, and what was done on the asset.

And we were not in a position to provide this information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Aren't you, in effect, making that decision or asking the Board to make that decision by saying, This amount we are going to make the streetlighting customer pay?  Isn't that the same as sending them a bill?

MR. COUILLARD:  Well, no, I disagree.  I think what we are looking at here is there is all of the different costs that are included, and then they're getting -- not diverted, but they're getting allocated to the different class of customers.

We have made sure that the class of customers for which, in the particular case, in the remediation areas, leaving the scanning aside, were mainly related to city and USL, and use a number of connections as our best proxy.

If I would have gone to any customer and say, We made a proxy, we believe this is what you owe, I don't think this customer would have agreed with the bill and he probably would have logged a complaint somewhere.  So I think this is the most efficient way for us to recoup those costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You had some Enbridge equipment that had contact voltage.  Did you send them a bill?

MR. LaPIANTA:  In that particular situation, I believe all we did was cut the ground free from the actual Enbridge meter, and then notified Enbridge.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because of the scanning situation?  You found that with scanning?

MR. LaPIANTA:  When you are scanning overnight and you are doing tens and tens and tens of kilometres, it is pretty difficult to assign a price to a three-minute stop at a particular meter.  Sure, I guess we could.

MR. COUILLARD:  Mr. Shepherd, we were more -- the biggest concern we had during that month was safety of the public and safety of our customers, the people in Toronto.  We were not going to take, you know, an extra time trying to log wherever we were, whatever asset we were working on, in order to compromise potential safety and increase the time or the length of this project.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you were reading my mind, because that is my next area.  It is true, isn't it, that although you have a lot of important things to deal with - financial integrity of the company, reliability, all of those sort of things - public safety is the most important priority that you have at all times; isn't that right?

MR. COUILLARD:  I hate to rank safety.  I mean, safety is one of the -- what I would concede to you is the one of top priorities we have as a company, safety of our employees and the public, as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Your evidence is that you have never had a maintenance program for the secondary system; is that right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  A specific program, no, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When was the last time that you even had some sort of inspection system for the -- inspection program for the secondary system?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, the secondary system is comprised of a number of components.  Clearly, the conductors that are in the ducts, you are not able to inspect them, not visually, unless you physically de-energize and pull them out.

The handwells are inspected whenever a connection is made.  So there is a visual -- there is a visual inspection done when a new connection is connected into that handwell, but those are very few compared to the number of handwells that exist in the system.

There was never a concentrated, predefined program to go out and inspect handwells.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are there other parts of your system that you have no maintenance or inspection program for?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No, no.  Our primary -- pardon me?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Only the secondary system?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Only the secondary system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why is that different?  Why do you not?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Again, it goes back to the risk, sort of the risk-reward equation.

The impact, the potential impact -- at least up until the findings of the contact voltage incidents, the impact of the potential secondary -- failure on the secondary system is typically limited to a very limited amount of customers.  It doesn't pose a danger to the public, doesn't pose a danger up until this portion, and therefore our efforts, as utilities have always been focussed on critical infrastructure:  Poles, primary voltage, transformers, cables.  In the event that we would sustain a failure on the secondary system, it was isolated and it was subsequently repaired.  But never to the extent that warranted a predefined maintenance program.

MR. McLORG:  Nor were the cost of any such maintenance program ever included any previous revenue requirements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We are not talking about costs right now, we're talking about public safety.  What I am trying to understand is why you have a system that clearly you know can hurt people and you never even looked at it.  I don't understand --

MR. LaPIANTA:  The presumption is we knew.  We didn't know.  As I stated earlier, dating back to the year 2000, I believe up until the incident with the two dogs I think we have three incidences on record where there was some sort of contact with the public made on our system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you knew.  Those three at least told you that you should be looking; right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, no.  No.  Because those three were isolated.  They were, two of them, in fact, happened in the summer and it happened to be more workmanship relationship than actual systemic with respect to weather and things of that nature affecting the system.  What we saw happening with the one situation last year, then subsequently the two dogs was clearly we began to see perhaps there was a systemic issue here throughout the system.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to understand is why, prior to 2008 when you had these three incidents at various times, that you did nothing; right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You had no investigation.

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.  It is not that we didn't do nothing.  We investigated it.  We rectified the situation.  But the conclusion was that these were one-offs.  These were isolated instances and not likely to occur again.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You did not review or investigation to determine whether they really were one-offs or not, did you?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No, we didn't.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sometimes it is unfair to apply hindsight because we know it is 20-20, but this does seems very surprising for people whose job is to manage the system and maintain the system, that you wouldn't -- you would have a problem and you say, Let's not bother to look and see if we’ve got it someplace else.

MR. LaPIANTA:  Mr. Shepherd, as I am sure you aware, it is a large asset base and the pot of money is only so big.

You are going to derive your -- you are going to derive your funding where you get your biggest bank for reliability, safety, for service.

You can talk to any utility you wish.  I can guarantee you there weren't and aren’t now for the most part secondary inspection programs on secondary mains.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually there were in New York, right, because in 2004 they started doing this; right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  After somebody was killed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, exactly.  So at least in 2004 you knew, didn't you?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Of the situation in New York.  But New York is an entirely different system.  There no comparison.

MR. McLORG:  I think generally, Mr. Shepherd, the point is that good utility practice as a body of best practice is not a static creature.  It evolves to meet new circumstances and meet new challenges and it can't address problems that -- before the problems become apparent.

So you know certainly we take our obligations with regard to stewardship of the system very, very seriously and that is why we are here today.  But I think that the same kind of conclusion might have been drawn concerning PCBs.  They were put into hydro systems before -- under management control, before it was known that they presented hazards, and when it became known they presented hazards they were withdrawn.

So I think that you express a natural concern, but I think one of the things that Mr. LaPianta was emphasizing is the fact we have limited resources with which to run the system and it would have been, I think, quite poorly received had Toronto Hydro come to the Board in the context of a rate case and said, Well we have a situation that actually hasn't presented any problems at all so far, but we think it may in the future and we want millions of dollars to deal with a problem that hasn't yet manifest.

All I am saying -- I don't mean to be argumentative but all I am saying is that, you have to optimize the use of the resources that you have, and we now, under new knowledge, are going to re-optimize those resources.

MR. SHEPHERD:  During the period 2002 to 2004 you had particularly restricted resources; right?  We have heard evidence in past cases about that period and about how your budgets were constrained very seriously by financial challenges; right?

MR. McLORG:  The rate freeze, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Not just the rate freeze but you had significant challenges internally, right?  You had to cut staff and like all sorts of things and you really -- I mean you had years where you couldn't earn any money; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  I wouldn't characterize it that way.  Staff has left because of consolidation and we have actually -- which allowed us to reduce rates afterwards.  So I wouldn't say that we didn't have enough resources.  I think that -- I wouldn't make the link that the fact that people were leaving the organization through amalgamation actually contributed to us not being able to do maintenance programs on those assets.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yes.  Except that this Board in a previous rate case said to you, that you were asking for more money to renew the system and the Board said to you, Well you should have been doing this all along and you didn't.

MR. COUILLARD:  Conversely, Mr. Shepherd, in our last application, we did the same demand to the Board to increase the money to -- because the asset is coming to the end of their, of its useful life and the Board agreed with us and increased our capital program.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In the Board's letter to you or to all of the utilities, the same one you have quoted from, you quoted from the second-last paragraph.  I want you to turn to the previous paragraph.  The previous paragraph, the first sentence says:
"It is expected the distributors have planned for and are able to accommodate all necessary maintenance or isolation of connections for unmetered loads to ensure the public safety."

Prior to this emergency, were you doing that?

MR. McLORG:  Mr. Shepherd, I think our testimony and our evidence so far has been that, to the best of our knowledge, we were undertaking maintenance programs to ensure the public safety.  And as soon as we became aware of what was, in effect, a new condition that threatened the public safety, then we responded immediately to it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, this says that it is your responsibility to look after, to plan for the necessary maintenance of connections for unmetered loads.  And as I understand your evidence, it is, you had no maintenance plan in place prior to this year to do that; isn't that right?

MR. McLORG:  That's not our evidence.  Our evidence is that there was, on a routine basis, there was maintenance carried out on secondary facilities whenever there needed to be any changes or modifications to them.

But, Mr. LaPianta has repeatedly characterized and correctly characterized contact voltage as being a hidden failure.

And prior to its emergence as a public safety problem, we did not undertake maintenance specifically to detect contact voltage which otherwise is not observable to the naked eye.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just one other thing on your maintenance practices.  You indicated that you didn't keep track of the repairs done during this process.

And I guess I found that a little surprising.  Is that your normal practice, that you don't keep a log of repairs?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.  I think there is a large presumption there.  We didn't say we didn't keep track of repairs.  We know what material we used.  We know what connections we replaced.  We did not keep track of it on an asset-by-asset location pre dominantly because the, a large portion of the assets -- those being the handwells -- are not in our enterprise asset management system.  We can't drive costs to those specific assets.  They were lumped into a work order.  One work order no different than when we attend to a storm in August.

So we know what material we used.  We know what connectors we replaced.  We know generally the systemic issues we encountered, but I can't tell you on the corner of Bloor and Cumberland there is a handwell that requires a new lid.

We know which ones, how many we have to replace, but at the end of the day we know we have to revisit all of these handwells anyways.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You were asked by Mr. Faye, I think, to provide information on what types of problems were found by the scanning contractor.  Do you have that information?

MR. LaPIANTA:  I don't believe it was what types of problems were found.  I believe the question was how many contact voltage incidents were found by the scanning contractor.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have that information now?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.  We have that information -- we are in the process of getting it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have it?  Or --

MR. LaPIANTA:  We should have it after the break.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am at that point in my cross, Mr. Chair, would this be a convenient time to break?

MR. VLAHOS:  How much longer, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Probably 20 minutes, half an hour.

MR. VLAHOS:  You do have other areas to cover?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I do, yes.

MR. VLAHOS:  It’s up to you.  Your call.  Do you want to continue with the other areas?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I would prefer to get this information.

MR. VLAHOS:  Let's do that.  15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 2:40 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 3:04 p.m.

MR. VLAHOS:  Please be seated.

Any preliminary matters?
Procedural Matters:


MR. MILLAR:  I might just note that certain undertakings have been filed, Mr. Chair, and they are on your desk.  They are J1.1 and J 1.5.

MR. VLAHOS:  Okay, thank you.  Anything else?

MR. VELLONE:  In regards to the scheduling matter of written versus oral argument that we were discussing earlier, the applicant will withdraw its request to file written argument on October 15th.  As you can understand, getting a decision before the year end is very important to the applicant and we don't want to delay the proceeding.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.  Mr. Shepherd.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd (continued):


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I wonder if, witnesses, you can turn to undertaking J1.5, which you just filed.  Do you have that with you?

Now, as I understand this, this is all of the contact voltage events that were discovered, whether from scanning, from inspections, from reports in the media, calls, everything; right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  For that period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  During 2009?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.  This is for the emergency Level III.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So you have discovered some since them, as well?

MR. LaPIANTA:  This is some that trickled in after those days, sure.  Some have trickled in as a result of the new contract we started in August.  I interpreted the question just referring to the emergency Level III.  So this is for the period February and perhaps a few days after the end of February into March.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But this is everything, so it includes the 1,454 in the handwells you found through inspections?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Again, let me clarify, because I just went through this over here.

The 1,454 were not contact voltage instances.  They were defects found during the remediation inspection process that may cause a contact voltage in the future.

So connectors perhaps were missing, broken, tape insulation breakdown, the bucket was missing.  They were defects.  They were not contact voltage at the time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So they're not included in these totals?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  None of them?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So even if there was contact voltage in those cases, they're not included?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.  If they actually found leakage, we would have included it in here, but the remediation found really only the defects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is nothing included in both totals, is what you are saying?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Both totals meaning?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The 1,454 and this 1,500 --

MR. LaPIANTA:  Not in here.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They're separate?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

Of that 1,591 that you found here, was some percentage of those in the handwells?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes, a percentage was in the handwells.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You wouldn't know how much that was, would you?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.  What this actually depicts, as I think we alluded to earlier, was the instance of contact voltage was identified as being at the apparatus.  So it was a streetlight fixture that was energized, or it was a BIA pole that was energized or it was a bus shelter that was energized.

The causation of that contact voltage is not reflected by these numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So some of these would be handwells that were energized?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Some could have been handwells that were energized.  Some could be a neutral back at the THESL vault.  It could be any number of things.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That is not really relevant to the causation.  If the handwells is energized or the luminaire is energized, for that matter, it doesn't matter; right?  That doesn't tell you what caused it?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. LaPIANTA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this list here is not a breakdown by cause.  This is a breakdown by where you saw it?

MR. LaPIANTA:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so I take it what you're saying is that, for example, you've got of this about -- what, about 75 percent of them are City of Toronto assets, but that doesn't tell you whether the City of Toronto assets were the cause of those problems?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, first, under the heading of City of Toronto it includes BIA, which is BIA, TTC, traffic assets, yes.  Some are agencies of the city.  But, correct, it does not tell you what the cause was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  But THESI also is City of Toronto; right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  THESI is a separate column on the bar chart on the left.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is also City of Toronto, isn't it?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Sorry.

MR. LaPIANTA:  THESI is a competitive affiliate owned by Toronto Hydro Corporation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Who owns Toronto Hydro Corporation?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Okay, so I follow your reasoning.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So there is no way of determining at this point in time the actual causal connection, the reasons why or who is at fault, if you like?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Again, for the purposes of the emergency Level III, our primary focus was to essentially eliminate the hazard.  In the future, when we're not faced with those volumes and those time pressures, certainly we will be able to gather that information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The customer examples, there is a very small number of customer examples here.

Help me out a little bit with this, because you said there was one garage door and there was one store awning; right?

So out of -- 105 is still fairly small, but there were some other examples of sort of common patterns that you saw?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, the vast majority of the customer complaints that came in were with respect to walking along the boulevard and they believed they had sustained some sort of shock, whether it was while walking, while leaning against a streetlight pole.  Those are the calls that came in through customers.

The far right column, actually, is the number of calls that came in from customers in which we went out and were not able to verify in fact contact voltage existed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the 105 that you have here is customers called you and said, I got zapped, and you were able to identify that they did in fact get zapped?

MR. LaPIANTA:  We were able to go out and confirm that in fact there was contact voltage there, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't categorize it as -- where it was from?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Again, this was during the Level III, so, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So those 105 customer ones, they could all be city-owned assets, couldn't they?  You have no way of knowing?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you know that two of them weren't; right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, I imagine a proportion of them were, sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The other thing you have just filed is J1.1, and this shows that THESI spent $310,000 in total participating in this work; right?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I guess I had the impression from reading your prefiled evidence that you had sort of the THESI crews and the THESL crews.  They were sort of all available to you all the time.  But this looks like THESI didn't do much.

MR. COUILLARD:  No.  Actually, I disagree with that.  Most of THESI's crews were involved in that.  Sorry, there was only four crews in THESI.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You said there were 33 people?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes, but I have included design staff, and things like that, the truck crews and demonstration folks.  So the truck crews, there were four crews that were allocated.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your evidence this morning was there were 33 people, and that's all they were doing for a month.  That's what you said.

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.  I am happy to correct that.  You know, we talked to some -- I have talked to some people about that, because we haven't really looked too much into the THESI costs.  So there were four crews from THESI, and a lot of the work they were actually doing is following the scanning trucks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because this looks like it is about three or four people for the month, maybe six.  Is that about right?

MR. COUILLARD:  No.  I think if you look at fully burdened costs of head count, that would look more around 15.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So your regular salaries for 15 people for a month are $140,000?

MR. COUILLARD:  Subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, that's good.

And so you were explaining to Mr. Buonaguro that THESI acted basically like a sub-contractor.  I am not sure I understand why you didn't include this cost in the costs you are getting recovered.  If they were doing the same work as everybody else, why wouldn't it be part of the same set of costs?

MR. COUILLARD:  The main reason for that is THESI, the salaries for these employees, are paid by a contract that they have, the service contract from the City of Toronto for the streetlighting asset.

So we didn't change the amount of work for the rest of the year.  Like, the capital program actually was not going to be changed for the rest of the year.

So we didn't believe it was prudent to bring those costs, and appropriate, as these costs are always covered through another contract.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They're not incremental?

MR. COUILLARD:  They're not incremental in the THESI case.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.

All right.  I am almost finished.  I am just seeing if there is anything I missed here in these questions.

Oh, yeah.  You have an application before the Board, 180 and 183, to amalgamate -- to transfer the streetlighting assets and amalgamate the companies; right?

MR. McLORG:  There is such an application before the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How does that relate to this?  That is, has one influenced the other in any way?  Does one solve the problem of the other in any way?  Or anything like that?

MR. McLORG:  I think that the fairest answer, Mr. Shepherd, is that they're really independent.  The contact voltage episode and the consequential costs are basically a narrow, self-contained and focussed issue.

And there is really very little overlap between the questions of how should those costs be dealt with on a regulatory basis, and the question of how should Toronto Hydro's application concerning streetlighting be dealt with.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well there is some overlap; right?

MR. McLORG:  There is an overlap in the sense that the streetlighting application concerns some of the assets that were, themselves, involved in the Level III episode.  But beyond that, subject to the comments of my other panel members, I wouldn't suggest that there is any strong causal relationship in either direction.

MR. SHEPHERD:  One of the reasons why you want to do this -- correct me if I am wrong because I am not actually working on that application, but as I understand it, it is -- you want to move the streetlighting assets in so that you’re maintaining the whole of that system as opposed to your side versus the THESI side.  Isn't that right?

MR. McLORG:  Well, I think that that is fair, but the basis of my remark -- maybe I can be helpful by clarifying this -- is that we do -- we are perfectly prepared to answer all of the questions that you might have about the streetlighting application, in that application, and we fully expect to do that.  But we very much see the question of the recovery of the contact voltage costs here as being, as I said, a self-contained limited question.

I think any questions or inferences that one might draw about the disposition of the streetlighting assets would go to questions about the costs and the risks that would be faced in the future.  But inherently the contact voltage question is a historical question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What I am trying to get at here -- and as I say, I haven't read the streetlighting application so I can't ask you questions about it.

MR. McLORG:  Sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But what I am trying to understand is whether the streetlighting application and the contact voltage applications have a common root cause, that is the contact voltage came about because of some structural problems, and the streetlighting application is intending to fix those structural problems.  Is that fair?

MR. McLORG:  Well, I think that at a general level, that is fair.  You will have seen in some of our interrogatory responses that we, for example, in responding to Board Staff, said we don't believe that there is something categorically unique about our system or that there are circumstances that are, you know, categorically unique in Toronto.  But we do believe that the birfurcated ownership, the divided ownership of the secondary system has been one of the contributing factors underlying the development of the contact voltage emergency.

And of course that bifurcation is partly what would be addressed in the streetlighting application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So is part of the reason why you never had a maintenance program for the secondary system because you only had part of it and sort of whose responsibility is it?  Is that any part of that reason?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.  Again, to reiterate, Mr. Shepherd, there was no reason, economic, engineering or otherwise to justify an extensive maintenance program on the secondary system.

I am not sure how more plainly I can put that.

The three cases that occurred before 2006, two of which were manufacturing defects, if you will, something happened during the construction process that caused the contact voltage, but at the time they were simply contacts, someone sustained a contact.  There was no burning.

Clearly things changed.  We entered another realm of risk when the dogs received the shock, albeit they were killed.  I think we're clearly into another element of risk even if it is just an animal, per se, not diminishing the value of our pets.  That becomes not just burnt.  That is a fatality.

It is not a stretch to suggest that imminently was probably going to be a human fatality.  I mean these were large dogs.  Larger than a lot of little children.  So if they sustained a fatal shock, it is very likely that there was a risk that there was going to be a human.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  I guess the term that is used when you have something that you don't maintain is run to failure; right?  You have certain aspects --

MR. LaPIANTA:  That is a term that is used frequently.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't fix it, you just run it to it fails because when it fails, it doesn't hurt anybody.  You know it has failed, you go and replace it; right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You operated the secondary system on a run-to-failure basis.

MR. LaPIANTA:  That's fair, I accept that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Are there other parts of your system that you run on a run-to-failure basis?

MR. LaPIANTA:  In general, no.  The classic example is a pole-mounted transformer.  We don't – historically, we don't conduct active monitoring of loading or temperature of our pole-mounted transformers.  When they do fail they do not normally fail catastrophically.  Therefore if you lose a pole-mounted transformer, you are impacting 15 customers.  It is not a safety hazard.  But beyond that, our critical assets, corner poles, station assets, primary feeders, they are not run to fail.  They're, there are preventive maintenance programs in place.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I take it after this, then, what you are doing with the scanning program now is you're saying we are going to adopt a different approach to this part of the system, the secondary system, and the approach we're going to take is we are not going to run it to failure any more, we are now going to inspect to ensure it is not causing any problems.  Is that fair?

MR. LaPIANTA:  That's correct.  We are clearly entering a phase where the secondary system given what we have seen, is going to require some element of maintenance.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Although the scanning system, the scanning program is indiscriminate, in fact you have the scanning program for the secondary system.  Don't you?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Well, no.  I don't think that is fair.  I think we have the scanning program to protect the public on the boulevard because it is not just scanning the secondary.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I understand that.  But the thing you have to inspect, the thing that you have identified as a problem that you feel that you now have to inspect that you didn't before is the secondary system; right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that is why you implemented the scanning.  If it weren't for that, if you had one garage door that was energized, you wouldn't be scanning the whole city right now, would you?

MR. LaPIANTA:  I accept that.  No, if it was just a garage door.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thanks.

That is all, thank you, Mr. Chair.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Before I turn to Mr. Millar, just a question of clarification.

On this application, in terms of the streetlighting and the Toronto Hydro, some kind of an amalgamation of assets, I have no idea what it is.  Mr. McLorg, I am looking at you for that one.

Is there any impact on the rates itself, on the rates themselves, rate classification, rate groupings?

Right now, Toronto Hydro, THESL has a rate classification called streetlighting.

So a year from now, assuming the other application is successful, what would it be?  Would it be a rate grouping again called streetlighting?

MR. McLORG:  I will ask Mr. Seal to comment as well, but initially my understanding is that certainly the rate classification now called streetlighting would continue.

And under that rate classification, THESL would provide distribution service related to streetlights.

It will be within the Board's decision to determine whether there is justification for the creation of another rate class that might be termed illumination or streetlighting service, or something along those lines, to distinguish it from the streetlighting distribution service.

And I think to go back to the beginning of your question, sir, the application does request approval for the migration of assets into THESL in the order of about $60 million.  So there will be an impact on rate base, and we have proposals concerning how that impact would be allocated.

So there will be -- there could be both impacts to rate levels and to rate categories.

And, Mr. Seal, is that fair from your perspective?


MR. SEAL:  That is a good characterization, better than I could have done.

MR. VLAHOS:  I just want to make sure that we in this room we do not need to worry, further than what we discussed about, in terms of possible overlaps of this application before us and any rate reclassification as a result of a successful application on the -- let me call it the transfer of assets application.

MR. McLORG:  I believe, sir, there will be no overlap, there being nothing consequential to the approval of this application that would restrict or predetermine any issues that would be arising out of the streetlighting application.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you for that.  Mr. Millar.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Most of my questions have been asked, so I will be fairly brief.

Good afternoon, panel.  I am Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I would like to begin just by taking you back to some of the contact voltage situations that have arisen south of the border.  And I have heard you mention a few locales, so I would just like to review them quickly with you.

The one that is mentioned in the evidence is the incident they had in New York City, and that was in 2004, if I am not mistaken?

MR. LaPIANTA:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Unfortunately, there was in fact a fatality in New York.  Was that in 2004?

MR. LaPIANTA:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  That was in 2004?

MR. LaPIANTA:  That's correct, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You were aware of that at the time?  I think I heard you answer a question from Mr. Shepherd that indicated that.

MR. LaPIANTA:  We were aware of the fatality at the time of the Level III emergency?

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, no, when it happened in 2004.


MR. LaPIANTA:  No.  Actually, no, I personally was not aware of it.  I subsequently became aware of it sometime last year.  I mean recently.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you know if anyone at the utility would have been aware of that?

MR. LaPIANTA:  I would be speculating.  Off the top of my head, I don't know.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. McLorg, were you aware of that?  I guess you weren't at Toronto Hydro at the time but...

MR. McLORG:  Actually, I still was.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, you were.  My mistake.  Were you aware of that?

MR. McLORG:  No, I was not.

MR. MILLAR:  Was anyone on the panel aware of that at the time, in 2004?

MR. COUILLARD:  No.

MR. SEAL:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  When did you become aware of it?  Just after it happened in Toronto, as well?

MR. LaPIANTA:  As I recall -- no.  Actually, it would have been -- it was before the Level III, but clearly within the past 12 months, only since we have had the other three incidences.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You mentioned an incident in Baltimore where there was another fatality; is that right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Again, subject to check, but I am aware there has been, I believe, two, if not three, fatalities in the US.  The one I am aware of specifically is the Jodi Lane incident in New York, in Manhattan.  I believe the other fatality was in Baltimore.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you know when that was?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Before the situation arose in Toronto?

MR. LaPIANTA:  No.  Actually, I only found out about that recently in discussions with our Power Services contractor, our scanning company.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I thought I heard you mention Boston as well; is that right?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Yes.  Well, Power Services, the company, the contractor, is actually providing scanning services in Boston, as well.  I am uncertain if there has been a fatality in Boston, but I know there has been contacts in Boston.

MR. MILLAR:  And you mentioned Florida?  Did I hear that?

MR. LaPIANTA:  They're providing scanning services for Florida Light & Power.  I am not sure if it is on a contractual basis, i.e., ongoing.  And they are doing work in 12 states in the midwest.  That is all information that is likely available from their public relations.  They have a regulatory person on staff.

MR. MILLAR:  No one at Toronto Hydro, at least to your knowledge, was aware of any of these cases prior to the Level III emergency in Toronto, or in the events immediately leading up to that?

MR. LaPIANTA:  Not that I am aware of, no, other the Jodie Lane incident, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Well, I thought you said you weren't aware of the Jodie Lane incident.

MR. LaPIANTA:  In the months leading up to the Level III.  I mean only recently, in the past six, 12 months.

MR. MILLAR:  For the New York situation you may not know the answer to this and, if you don't, that's fine, but do you know if the utility there, Con Ed, I believe it was, sought something akin to Z factor treatment for any of this?

You state the annual costs in New York are something in the range of $22 million.  But do you happen to know if they ever saw any retroactive recovery after the fact for certain expenses, whether they called it a Z factor or something else?

MR. McLORG:  I'm sorry, I don't, Mr. Millar.

MR. MILLAR:  I didn't suspect you did, but I didn't see that in the evidence.  I wanted to make sure I didn't miss it if there had been a specific reference to that.  So it is an "I don't know".  Okay, thank you.

I am going to move on briefly to an issue that has been covered by a number of parties --

MR. VLAHOS:  Sorry, Mr. Millar, it begs the question:  Is there a decision by that commission?

MR. MILLAR:  No, I don't know.  As far as I know, there isn't.  I just wanted to make sure that Toronto Hydro wasn't aware of a similar Z factor-type decision.  So I am not angling at anything.  I am not aware of any decision.

Just to be clear, there is a decision regarding ongoing costs, but as far as I am aware and as far as the panel is aware, apparently there was no Z factor-type application for retroactive recovery of costs.

MR. McLORG:  If I may, Mr. Vlahos, I would just say that more or less the extent of our response to that kind of question is given at Board Staff Interrogatory No. 3, in which there is an excerpt from the New York Public Service Commission's January 2005 order instituting safety standards.




It seems, by inference, that the NYPSC does entertain applications similar to Z factor applications, because they discuss the kind of criteria that would have to be met in the second paragraph of that excerpt.  It starts on page 2 and goes to page 3 of that exhibit, J, tab 1, schedule 3.

So I don't know if that is helpful, but I just wanted to mention it.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that, Mr. McLorg.

I am going to move on.  As I say, I am going to touch on an issue that's been touched on by others.  I am going to approach it at a high level and see if we can get anywhere.  If we don't, we don't.  I don't intend to take a lot of time with it, but I am going to ask you a few questions about this incrementality issue.

I just wanted to make sure we are all speaking from the same assumptions here.  As I understand it, your 2009 revenue requirement obviously was based on a forecast; is that right?

MR. McLORG:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that forecast, or at least whatever the Board approved, it approved it on the basis of a forecast?

MR. McLORG:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  And as it happens, when you are looking at the actuals -- I know you don't have all of the actuals for 2009, but your updated forecast for 2009 shows you coming in more or less at what you had anticipated, is that right, on an overall revenue requirement basis?

MR. COUILLARD:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I guess depending on how you cut the numbers, Mr. Shepherd took you to certain subsets of what your forecast had been, and I guess in some areas you spent a little less than you thought you would, and in others I guess you spend a little bit more.  Is that fair to say?

MR. COUILLARD:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. McLorg and I guess Toronto Hydro has labelled these expenditures, the $14 million, as incremental.

What I think you mean by that is -- what you are saying is these costs are incremental to what the Board considered in the last cost of service rates application; is that correct?

MR. McLORG:  I think that is fair.  If you don't mind me restating, it is our evidence that the costs that were incurred to correct the Level III condition were entirely unanticipated by Toronto at the time it filed its application for 2008 and 2009 rates, and categorically were excluded from the revenue requirement that was requested and clearly from what was approved.

If I may continue for just a moment, I think the other aspect of incrementality just goes to the questions of what costs were avoided, if any, as a result of -- what costs were displaced as a result of the contact voltage.

And, as you are aware it, is our evidence that at the end of the year there will be no costs that were displaced.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think we're saying the same thing.

MR. McLORG:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Your costs are incremental, because they were not envisioned when you applied for your 2009 rates.  They're incremental to what you asked for, the discrete items that you asked for for 2009 revenue requirement?

MR. McLORG:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  But is it fair to say that they're not necessarily incremental to what you actually spent in 2009?  Would that be fair to say?

MR. McLORG:  Well, of course our actuals for 2009 are not yet available.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right.

MR. McLORG:  And looked at just from my regulatory angle, whatever we did spend on actual basis in 2009 would certainly include the contact voltage remediation costs, but -- Mr. Couillard?

MR. COUILLARD:  If I might add.  When I state that we are coming close to what was approved by the Board, that is excluding all of those costs.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. COUILLARD:  So if you were add the $14 million, the assumption would be we would likely be somewhere around give or take some dollar but around $14 million higher than what we were expecting.

MR. MILLAR:  We don't know the file number, right.  But I guess I'm approaching it more from a theoretical standpoint.  It is certainly possible although it was incremental to what you were envisioning in 2009, as it might turn out with regard to actuals, it is not incremental to actual spending.

You might -- I am not saying this happened in this case, but you might have underspent on a whole bunch of things even with this additional $14 million, you might still underspend.  That is a possibility; is that right?

MR. McLORG:  If it is not too fine a distinction, I would say that we could agree that our actuals might be in excess or deficient, relative to the approved costs for, the approved revenue requirement for 2009.

But the distinction I am making is that I don't think that affects the incrementality or the incremental character of the contact voltage costs.  It goes to the question of what, in the overall pot, turns out to be the case for our actuals.  Sorry.

MR. COUILLARD:  That was done in the argument that my colleague is making here, you know we are nine months into the year right now.  So I know anything is possible, but there is a fair bit of trending right now.  It is not like when we were in March, for example, when we start looking at those costs.  So you know when I look at my current forecasts I am expecting, excluding those costs, to be very much in line with what the overall approved 2009 rates, revenue requirement were going to allow us.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  But if I understood Mr. McLorg correctly, Mr. McLorg, you would say that doesn't matter, right?  Whatever the actual spending is is not relevant, because these particular expenditures were incremental to what you sought in 2009.

So the actual revenue requirement, the actual amount that Toronto Hydro spent in 2009 is not relevant to this calculation; is that correct?

MR. McLORG:  Well, only with respect -- only would it be relevant with respect to costs that were a direct function of the contact voltage episode.

MR. MILLAR:  But if there were not displaced costs, then there is nothing to offset, then you would say it doesn't actually matter if we greatly overearned because these particular expenses were incremental.  I am not saying this is what has actually happened, I just want to approach it from a theoretical level.  What you are saying is the actual expenditures that were made in 2009 are irrelevant.  As long as these particular expenditures were incremental to the 2009 revenue requirement we sought and there are no other offsets, we should be entitled to that money.  Is that a fair way to put it?

MR. McLORG:  I think that that follows from our view, because while we put a ring fence around the contact voltage costs, we were retain the risk that we bore from the beginning on both costs and revenues for 2009.

So all of the – well, first of all, the revenues would scarcely be affected, but certainly the costs otherwise, the ones that are not related to contact voltage – well, it is our view we remain at risk for those.

And so to go back to a thing I said before, I think to pierce that boundary would amount to a reopening of 2009.

MR. MILLAR:  I hear exactly what you're saying.

MR. McLORG:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  But could this lead to a situation – again, probably we don't have the actuals but probably not in this situation - where Toronto Hydro and other utilities would recover money through a Z factor that it never actually spent.  Is that a possibility?

MR. McLORG:  Oh, I would certainly think that the Board's criteria for characterizing Z factors would prevent that.  Because I think that, you know first of all --

MR. MILLAR:  I am not sure it would, but explain.

MR. McLORG:  Well, I think, first of all, if money wasn't spent then you wouldn't be able to demonstrate that it meets the materiality threshold.

MR. MILLAR:  But you said that the money spent, you only look at the discrete project, the incremental spending for that discrete project.  Let me give you an example, the revenue requirement is $100 million --

MR. McLORG:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR: -- this Z factor project costs $10 million. As it turns out however the utility only spent $80 million of its Board approved $100 million budget.  And then comes in and seeks this $10 million for this discrete project.

I think, by the way you read the guidelines, they should be entitled to recover that $10 million even though they underspent their total -- on their total revenue requirement.  Have I got that right?

MR. McLORG:  Well, we interpret the Board's own guidelines to, as I say, draw a fence around the costs -- costs and/or revenues that are subject of the Z factor.

So to flip the question around, if it were the case that a utility overspent its approved revenue requirement because there was a series of storms that it had to restore power from, and let's make it even worse by saying that revenue was down because of mild weather, et cetera, et cetera, it would still be -- it would still follow from our understanding and our position that if there were a tax rate decrease that hadn't been factored into the approved revenue requirement, that despite the very poor financial results for the utility that year, the utility would still be liable for that, because it is not -- the threshold test does not consider the Z factor itself in relation to the results of the rest of the normal operation of the utility.

If that is the threshold, then that is a very different case that we have to meet.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.

MR. VLAHOS:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  I have no questions.  Mr. Vellone, do you have any redirect?

MR. VELLONE:  No, we do not.

MR. VLAHOS:  All right.  Thank you.  So unless there are any other matters, we will adjourn and we will break for the argument.  October 22nd.  And two weeks after that for reply argument.

Thank you very much, all.  And the reporter, thank you very much.  We are adjourned.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:40 p.m.
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